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How a Wihtiko Was Defeated and Burned — (Track 1—03:13)

[ .
haw! piyak 6ma a-wi-Acimostitan, 2=y I
Okay! One story I will tell you. i

ayihiw, plyak kisidiniw ota ki-ayaw
Let’s see, there was one old man who lived here;

niki-kiyokawénan mana kapi. 6ta nimosominan piyak ki-ay... akwani
we used to visit him all the time. Here, one of our grandfathers stayed... Then

niki-acimostakonan 6ti owiki i-sikwa 6ma. widawaw piko moda nida
he told us a story over here, at his home, in the springtime. Only to them (I mean).

n-ohci-pimatisin ciskwa. niki-... akwa 1-ki-acimostakowa lyako i-ki-ihki.
I wasn’t born yet. I went... and he told us what had happened.

akwani ikota a-ki-ayacik 1-ki-si.. I-nipindik o6ta a-ki-ayacik. 6ma a-nipi...
And that’s where they stayed in the sprin... in the summer, right here. Every time when it

a-ati-sikwa asay ki-nipin 6ma Churchill.
was summer... when spring was beginning, already when it was summer here on the Churchill.

akwani 1-nipindik lyakwidiw ka-pawatat wihtikow
And in the summer he dreamed a wihtiko;

mani maka ki-ihtaw ayahaw tanisi ana ayahaw monster. 6ti ohci ména
he came to be called, let’s see, what was his true name? Anyway, a monster. It always

a-ohtohtit kiwitina. akwani ka-itwit, “ciskwa!

came from the far north. Then he said, “Wait!

ki-pi-natikonaw awinak 6ti i-ohtohtit kiwitinahk,” i-itwiw, “6ti
Then he said, “Wait! Somebody will come and get us, someone coming from the

1-wi-takosi 1-itwiw.” akwani 6ta 6ma moda ki-ohci-mihcitiwak ota
north,” he said. “He will arrive from over there,” he said.

a-ki-ayacik nistam ikospi. “akwani ikota 6ma a-wi-... takosihki 6ta,”
And not many people lived here at first. “Then,

itwiw, “akwani kahkidaw ta-nipahikonaw,” itiw, “itoki maka nida
when he comes here,” he said, “he is about to kill us all,” he said to them, “and

na-ka-ntayi-mawinthwaw,” itwiw. “nida na-ntawi-nakiskawaw,” itwiw.
maybe I can go and tackle him myself,” he said. “I will go and meet him,” he said.
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akwa a-ati-otakosik 6ma a-ati-pahkisimok ikosi 1-ihki
And it was becoming evening, that is, dusk was falling, it happened

i-ati-otakosik akwa a-pi-nokosidit i-matawisidit niti
that evening was starting, and it came out on the open [area] over there

anima sakahi... sakahi... onikahpis 6ma kiwapahtin ota.
on the lake... lake... little portage, in fact, this one you see here.

ikoti akami i-pi-matawisidit. akwa wida a-sipwihtit
It was over there, across the lake, coming out in the open.

omidiw sakahikanisis mwihci & pihcayi
Then he went out from the little pond, straight to the middle

onikahp isi 6ta 6ma micosinikahpis
of the portage, this ‘Little Poplar Portage,’

oma ki-itamwak. ki-sakaw 6ma onikahpis
as they had called it. This little portage was

Ota 6ma a-pimpadicik otdpanaskwak.
densely overgrown, in here where vehicles

The Wihtiko Portage
“akwani ikota, ikota (Little Poplar Portage)
drive by now [near the airport]. (February 1999)

ta-nakiskawat,” ka-itwit. “akwani nakiskawaci,” ka-itat 6ho,
“Right there he would meet him,” he said. “Then, when he confronts him,” he said

“kika-pihtinawaw kikway ta-tipwit awinak,” itwiw. “lyakwioiw ikwani
about him, “you will hear something, someone, scream,” he said. “That’s when

1-otihtintowa,” itwiw. “akwani 6ma a-otihtintocik itoki akwa
we start fighting,” he said. “Perhaps while they were fighting they rose into

a-ispahki-masihitocik ispimihk isi. ispimihk ohci a-masihitocik.
the sky. They continued to fight each other up there.

akwani itoki ikota ohci ocikahikanis a-ki-tahkwana
Now, that old man happened to carry a hatchet, which he seized,

ana kisidiniw otihtinam &-pakamahwat 6ho wihtikowa. wihtikow
and he struck the wihtiko (with it). Of course,

mani maka a-pakamahwat. akwani ahpin i-pawahwat niswa
he chopped this wihtiko. It came falling down after he had whacked it twice.

i-pakamahwat. akwani a-pahkisihkwa, ka-itwit. “nipahkisinan,”
And then, they both fell down, he said. “We came falling down,”

itwiw. akwani 6ta 1-pahkisihkwa akwani a-pakamahwat
he said. Then they landed, and he gave it hard whack again
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akwa kwayask. akwani a-nipahdt mwac a-ahcidiwa.
for good measure. He had killed it, and it did not move.

akwani 1-ki-nipahat tayipiko ati-pénam
After having killed it, right away he started a fire,

a-ati-pimihtatat mihta ati-ponam. akwani i0a wihtikowa 6ho 6ta
began to bring in firewood to start a fire. Then, he dragged the wihtiko

macostitapiw. akwani 10a awa wihtikow wadasow.
to the fire. And this wihtiko really burns.

toni I-mistaskisodit akwani a-nakatat. akwani 1da awa
He made very sure it burned, and then he left it.

wihtikow mistaskisow. “moda wi-... moda ta-sipwihtiw nantaw iti
Eventually, this wihtiko is consumed by the fire. “This wihtiko

isi,” 1-takosi Ttoki 6ta wihtamawiw. “akwani ninipahaw, kipithtawaw
won’t be going anywhere,” is what he told them when he came back here. “I killed

na a-tipwitit a-pakamahok?” itwiw. “iya, nipihtawénan,” itwiw,
it! Did you hear it scream when I hit it?” he said. “Yes, we heard it,” he

a-pakamahwat a-matwi-tipwit,” itiw.
said, when he hit it and it yelled, he said to them.

akwani 1kosi i0a a-ki-itdcimostakowa Iyako ana kisioiniw.
And that was the story that was told to us by that old man.

fyakwidiw 6midiw nistam Tyakwidiw 1-ki-acimostakowa fyako ana
In fact, that was the very first story he told us,

kisidiniw. i-ki-natakiht mana 6ta ana kisidiniw. nimosom,
that old man. We used to go and get him, that old man, my grandfather,

nimosOminan isa piko. Luke akwa nida iyako a-ki-itohtiya mana
our grandfather, you know. Luke and I used to go over to see him

a-ki-acimostakowa 1-nta-wapamakiht stories, 6ma
and he would tell us these stories when we went to see him, in fact,

a-ntawidihtama ta-acimostakowa.
whenever we wanted them, for him to tell us them.

aw akwani 10a fyako.
Okay, that’s all for this one!

5
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Planes and Trains — (Track 2—04:01)

akwa kotak. “a cist,” nitikonan, “6ma ki-pimatisiyik,” itwiw,

Another one. “Well, you see,” he told us, “as you go through life,” he
“kidawaw ka-pimatisindwaw kinwiskis,” mdda mayida asan pimatisiw
said, “both of you will live long,” but my friend has passed away already.

ana niciwékan. “akwa 0ma a-wi-pimatisiyik,” itwiw,
“And as you continue through life,” he said,

“ta-paskwatahikdndwaw 6ta akdmi 6ma air... airport isa 6ma
you will be cutting forest across where an air... airport will (eventually) be,”

a-ihtakwa kota ta-paskwatahikdndwaw,” nitikonan. “akwani méoa
“you will clear forest there,” he said to us. “You will not

ta-kiskioihtinawaw kikwan a-paskwatahamik ikota 6ma
know, though, what you are clearing it there for,” he said to us.

a-wi-tocikatik,” nitikondn. akwani nipaskwatahikan nista kota
And then I cut trees there myself

two years. dy... i-kisihtadya akwa a-odiciskiwakipahikicik
for two years. Well, we finished it, and then they landscaped,

i0a 6hokok tractors. odipahamwak isa dmidiw miskanaw.
using tractors. They levelled this strip.

akwani nantaw two years’ time i-ispadik akwani,
Then, about two years later, then,

akwani a-wapahtama ikota pimidakana i-twihomakahkiht. “ikosi,”
then we saw airplanes landing in there. “So,” he said,

a-itikowa, “pimidakana ta-twihomakanwa 6ta ta-osihcikatiw anima
airplanes will land here and it (airport) will be constructed where you are

a-paskwatahamik,” nitikonan ana kisidiniw. moda mayida ana
cutting the trees,” he told us, that old man. But that old

kisidiniw ki-ohci-wapahtam. nidanan piko niki-wapahtinan piya...
man did not (live to) see it. Only we saw it.

anohc 6ti niwapahtin.
I see it over here now.

“akwani, akwani,” ka-itwit, “cist,” itwiw,
“And then, then,” he said, “see!” he said,

“Oma a-wapahtamik 6ta pimidakana a-pima... a-twihomakahkiht,”
“when you see these planes flyin... landing,” he said, “the

itwiw, “nistam 6ho apisdsinwa,” itwiw, “ta-apisasinwa. akwa pidisk
very first ones, these are the small ones,” he said, “they will be small. And
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ta-misawa, pidisk ta-misawa. akwani 6ma ki-pimatisiyik oti kida,”
then there will be big ones. Eventually, there will be big ones. And then, as

ka-ki-isit, “kida ki-pimatisin akaci mwac ka-pimatisin.”
you continue to live,” he told me, “you will either live or will have passed on.”

akwa tkospi 6ma, 6ma isa a-ndtintonaniwandik kiwi... pihtam isa
And then there was the time when people were at war, you know, and he

wista a-notintonaniwik. “akwa 6ma a-notintonaniwik,” itwiw,
heard of it, too, that there was war. “And while this war is going on,” he said,

“akwani kitahtawid ta-twihowak 6ta 6hokok 6t1 4-notinikicik
“suddenly, out of the blue, people will land here, and these will be soldiers of

ot1 a-nipahtakicik,” itwiw. “mdda ahpo ta-kiskidimawawak ota
war, people who kill,” he said. “You won’t even realize when they have landed

twihotwawi. akwani ta-miscihikowawak kimiciwiniwawa piko
here. And they will massacre you. The only thing they will take is your food,

ta-otinamwak akwa mina ayihiwa moswasiniya paskisikana fyakwani
and the bullets and guns, too; that’s

piko ta-otinamwak,” itwiw, “akwa miciwin,” itwiw. ikosi a-itikowa.
all they will take, he said, and the food, he said. That’s what he told us.

“akwa lyako anima ki-ispadiki,” itwiw, “akwani akwa, akwa ikosi
“And after that happens,” he said, “and if it should happen like that

ki-ispadihikowiko,” itwiw ka-o... ta-paspindwaw 10a mihcit,” itwiw.
to you,” he said, “you ... you will pull through, many of you,” he said.

“mina mihcit ta-wapahtamwak. akwa 6hokok kitawasimisiwawak
“And many will see it. And these, your children,

fyakwanik ki-wapahtahkwaw. kidawaw mina méda ka-wapahtinawaw,”
they are the ones who may see it. And you people won’t see it,”

niki-itikonan iyako ana kisidiniw. akwani niki-ntawapamanan mana
he told us, that old man. We used to go and see him. Hey,

ay akwani 1yakwioiw i-ki-kisi-acimostakowa akwa a... akwa kihtwam
and then no sooner had he finished telling us this story than he

4sa mina a-kwiskwit!
turned around and changed it!

“aw cist,” itwiw, “6ma ki-pimatisiylk,” itwiw, “6ta dma
“Okay, look!” he said, “Right here

a-pimatisiyik.”mayida 6ti 6ma Sherridon ikotl a-ki-kipihcit awa
you are living.” But over there in Sherridon, that is where
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tadin. ikota ohci kiki-...ki-wapamiw mina kisidiniw itok1 i-ki-...
this train stopped. He had seen it, too, I assume, the old man, because they rowed

wida 1-ki-ayisi-cimicik ki-mosci-pimiskawak adisk ikota
(canoed) and paddled, because that’s the time they went by canoe

ohci a-natdwatasocik miciwin a-natahkwa ota ayihihk Sherridon,
to haul in groceries for themselves here, let’s see, in Sherridon, by paddling

mosci-cimicik i-pimpadicik wida ata wida. akwani akwa ikota a-kwiskit
or even by using an outboard motor. And then, that’s where this

awa otapanask. “akwani mina 6ma ki-ihki dma ki-pimatisiyik,” itwiw.
train turned around. “It will happen in your lifetime,”

“piyakwan... niwapahtin mayioa nida. akwa dma ki-pimatisiyik
he said. “I may yet see the same thing,

akwa otapanask 6ma pawistiko nisto,” itwiw, “nisto mani maka
too. While you are living and there will be this train, and there are these three

pawistikwa Omisisi 1kota ta-dsowakahp... ta-Asowakapiskamon
rapids,” he said, “of course, three rapids like these, and that’s where the iron

miskanaw,” itwiw, “piwapisko-miskanaw,” itwiw.
road will cross,” he said, “(that is,) the railroad,” he said.

akwa dsa mina anima kotak pawistik asa
And it will (connect) one rapid to the other,” he said,

mina kota,” itwiw. “pidisk anima kotak pawistik akwani akwa
“until eventually one rapid to the other will be connected.”

ta-sapwatamon. 6t1 wahdaw kiwit... wida 1ka 1-ki-ohci-kiskidihta
It would lead far away, up North... Because he did not know

tanti a-ki-wi-itamodik mayida 1ka mina i-ki-ohci-wépahta. pikwi...
where it would connect to; he did not (live to) see this. Only...

pikwi... pikw isa 6ma 1-ki-pawata itoki méani méka.
only... he probably only dreamed it, you know.

akwa a-ki-pawata wapahtam 6ma
And so he dreamed it, when he saw this

a-wi-ihkindik a-wi-itamodik iti miskanaw ikoti
would be happening, where the railroad would

ta-itamon kiwitinahk 6ti wahoaw ikoti ta-oh... “ta-kwiskiw
connect somewhere far away up North. “That’s where it will turn around,

awa otapanask. akwa kidawaw ta-apacihawaw ta-otapasonawaw.
this train. And then you all will use it by riding on it.
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akwani, tahto kisikaw ta-pimakocin,” niki-itikonan. akwani
Every day, it will pass by here,” he told us. And then

niwapahtin akwani anima ... niwapahtin idiko a-pimakoci awa
Isee it, I see this happening, how the train is running.

otapanask. akwani lyako anima kiki... ki-kisipwiw i0a ikota
And then, that one... it was to end over there

animidiw miskanaw.
... that [railJroad.

The Wihtiko That Would Eat Only
Tasty People — (Track 3—05:59)

akwa kotak ta-acimostatin. akwani akwa a-wanihikiya ota
Okay, I will tell you another story. It was when we were camping here

a-ki-... a-stkwa isa 6ma a-wanihikaniwik. akwani nista

one spring, you know, during trapping season. I went out
nisipwi-wanikikan niki-wiciwakanin ota sékiyas ki-ihtaw. yako
trapping, too, and I had a partner named Zacchaeus. That was

a-ki-wiciwakaniyan. moda ki-ohci-wikihtow ciskwa. nida ida asay
the one I had as a (trapping) partner. He was not married yet. I was already

niki-wikihton.
married myself.
akwani a-sipwihtiya 6ti wimiscikdsiw ayihihk oh...
When we left there, there was this white man, uh...
otl wimiscikosiw kiwitina iti 6ma a-wanihikiya ikoti ki-ayaw.
A white man was living over there in the north where we were trapping.

niki-wéh-wapamaw asay nida nistam. niki-nakacihaw
T had often seen him before. I had met and knew him well,

ana ayimiscikosiw. “akwa dma Ota takosinani kawida sipwihti,”
that white man. “And whenever you come in, don’t leave,” he would say to me.

niki-itik. kapisi wici-kapisimin ikota... akwéni na-midwidihtin,”
Camp here, camp here with me... Then I would be happy,”

niki-itik. mana n6t... kisidiniw. aw akwani 1koti a-takosina
he would say to me,... that old man. Well, when we got there,

ninipanan. mwac ap... takosin. masinahikiw mayida
we slept. He was not there, had not arrived. He had written a letter saying

ikota ta-takosi na-takosinin anohc i-tipiskak. “‘ka-pthinawaw piko!”
that he would be arriving that night. “Just wait for me!”
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“dog food kahkidaw kikwan astiw,” akwa itasinahikiw.
“Dog food and everything else is there” is what he wrote.

akwani akwa a-takosi a-pihci-tapasot a-ati-ti...
And then when he arrived, he could be seen riding out there,

poy, tayisa niswapicikisiw. “kwayask nitakahki-tapason,”
Boy! He had a two-dog team. “I had a very nice ride,” he told

nitik i-takosi i-pi-nahiképwistawit 6ta. poy lyakwidac

me when he came in here, standing and facing forward. “Boy, this is the first
i-takahki-tapasowan i-niswapicikiyan kiki nipdsihtasona,” itwiw.
time I had a good ride using only two dogs and carrying my things, too,” he said.

“kidawaw icik 6ma 1-kiskidimikowikwa nitimak!” idiko ka-wi-...
“So it’s you that my dogs recognized! That’s

10iko kwayask a-otépicik,” itwiw nitikonan. aw akwani ikota
why they really pulled,” he said, he told us. Well, then when we were there,

ka-ayaya nimicisondn piminawasow pidisk twelve o clock. mayida
we ate, he cooked, and it was already twelve o’clock. But by

radio ikospi piko ninatohtinan poy kitahtawid atimwak
that time we just listened to the radio. Boy, all of a sudden the dogs

a-mikisimopadicik i-tipiskak. kikwan itoki
were barking into the night. What they started barking for, I don’t know.

piko a-mikisimopadicik. tdyipiko niwadawi-kwaskohtin
Right away, I leapt outside

wida nitimak 1-sakahpitakwa ikoti.
because my dogs were tied up there.

pOy ka-pihtawakiht awinak i-tipwit. misiwi i-pihtakosit
Boy, we heard someone screaming. It could be heard all over

anta sakahikani. “pdy!”akwani 10a awa niciwakan itwiw. “pdy, iyako
the (frozen) lake. “Boy!” my partner said. “Boy! That’s a

wihtikow,” itwiw. “akwani ki-otihtikonaw,” itwiw. “mdda wahdaw
wihtiko,” he said. “And it has reached us,” he said. “Not far

anima waciy ikota a-ayat. ikota awa a-tipwit. akwani akwa
from the mountain is where it is. That’s where it is screaming from. It

ta-otihtikonaw ta-nipahikonaw i-ki-...” itwiw 10a awa niciwakan.
will get us and kill us...” he said, my partner.

“ly, awas,” nititdw. “niyopaskisikanin nititdw. “moda i0a nida
“Oh, go on!” I said. “I have a gun,” I said to him. “I won’t
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na-pakitindw ta-nipahit,” nititaw. “toni... akocikan mina ikota
let him kill me,” I told him. “I will...” He has a cache;

ayaw ikota, ki-itimowan,” nititaw. “nitimak piko
that’s where I’ll retreat to,” I told him. “Only my dogs

ta-paskipadihikwak,” nititaw. “mwac na-ka-ohtimin tahcitwayi,”
will get away from me (break their tether),” I told him. I will have no dogs if

nititaw. aw akwani pdy mwac... “akwani i0a nida,” itwiw,
they get loose (break their tether),” I told him. Okay, then, boy! Not... “and

“na-ka-ohpahon,” itwiw. 6ti nimosém mana a-ki-pth... niki-wépamanan
myself,” he said, “I will fly,” he said. When my grandfather used to come over...

ALA A

omosOma Ota a-ati-sipwihtiya ikoti. “akwani na-isihoan,” itwiw. mwac
we saw his grandfather here as we went out over there. “I will fly,” he said. “You

ki-otahtahkwanin ta-pimidayin nititdw ikota 1-pahpthak 6tida. ikota
don’t have wings to fly,” I said to him, while at the same time laughing at him.

akwani 10a kisidiniw nitik. “tanisi ka-itwit,” nitik. “wi-ohpahow
Then the old man asked me, “What did he say?” he asked me. “He wants to fly,” I said

awa,” nititdw. “moda mayida otahtahkwaniw,” nititdw. “akwani
to him. “But he doesn’t have wings,” I said to him. “He wants to leave us,”

i-wi-nakatikowa,” nititdw. “6ho a-pihtawat,” nititaw, “akwani awa
I said to him. “He hears him [the wihtiko],” I said to him. “Whenever it

a-pihtakosit 6ti ikosi mana ki-itwiwak kayas idiniwak, nititaw,
screams over there, as the people long ago used to say,” I told him, “he will eat

akwani ka-mowikonaw ka-nipahikonaw, nititdw 1da ana wimiscikosiw.
and kill us.” T told him this, that white man.

“I don’t think so,” itwiw. “Let’s go,” itwiw.
“I don’t think so,” he said. “Let’s go,” he said.

“nitonawatahk!” nitik. “mwac,” nititdw, “mwac 10a nida
“Let’s go look for him,” he said to me. “No, not me.

na-ntonawaw,” nititdw. nipahpihik 6tida, ana
I won’t go looking for him,” I said to him. He laughed at me, that white

wimiscikosiw. “No,” nititaw. “mwa na-ntonawaw,” nititaw. “Let’s
man. “No,” I told him. “I won’t go looking for him,” I said to him. “Let’s go

go inside,” nitik. akwani a-pihtokiya kihtwam.
inside,” he said to me. Then we went inside again.

akwani nitapinan ikota. ka ayaw. kakwicimik kikwén
Then we sat down in there. Yeah, he was there. He asked me what the thing’s name
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anima. ka-isidihkasot tantowihk ikota anima a-pihtakosit idiko
was. “What kind of creature is this that has the loud

a-kisiwit nitik. niyakwani ikosi nititaw.

scream?” he said to me. “A while back,” I said to him.

“ly kayas,” nititdw, “6ti ki-dcimiwak mana awidiwa,” nititaw,

“Look, long ago,” I said to him, “over there they used to talk about some

“Ohokok kiwitina 6ti wahdaw oti ka-ayacik. 1-kiskwicik,” nititaw.
people who lived far away in the North. They went crazy,” I said to him. “They usually
ika kikwaoiw 1-micicik akwa i-ati-kiskwiyaskacicik nititdw. “akwani
did not have any food to eat and started to go crazy from hunger,” I told him.

iyako awa,” nititaw, “itoki 4(w)-otihtikowa tanisi maka ki-t6tdkowa
“And about this creature,” I told him, “if he reaches us, I don’t know what he’s going
itoki,” nititaw. “nida i0a ni-opaskisikanin,” nititaw. “akwa

to do to us,” I said to him. “Myself, I have a gun,” I told him. “I will climb up
kitakocikan 6ma 1kota na-kospahtawiyamon nititdw akwispi pi-

there for safety,” I said to him, “and then when he comes climbing up to get me I will
natdhtawasici isko miscipahaman na-paskiswaw ostikwani nititaw aw
shoot him in the head until I run out of bullets,” I said to him, and he looked at me

nikanawapamik asa mina.kihtwam a-tipwicik nitiminanak. wa... Why
again. Then our dogs barked loudly again. Why, my dogs were trying to break loose

tapwisa akwa toni akwa nitimak kakwi-tahcipadihowak. nikitahamawawak.
[because it was getting so close]. .I yelled at them to settle down. I looked over there

akwani i0a awa Oti nititdpan nista niti wacimahti ta-pihtohtit. m6da
at the mountain, too, to see if it was coming. However, he did not walk audibly (made

i0a ata wida pithtwiwinam maka kwayask mikisimowak.
no sound); however, our dogs were barking furiously.

pOy akwani osoma 1kota 6ma a-mikisiyompadicik
Boy, then, just like that our dogs started barking

ohokok nitiminanak iskwayani. pdy a-pahkihcidawipadik toni
for the last time. Boy, the wind touched down just

piyakwan ayihi i-sawapinihcik micosisak. mayida i-ki-paskwak
as if somebody was laying low the poplar trees. Because it was cleared land,

micosisak piko ki-ayawak. idiko 1-misidoti akwani 6ma ikota
there were only poplars around. That is how windy it was. While we were

a-nipawiya wadawitimi pdy kitahtawid a-tipwit akwani 1-tipwit
standing outside, boy, suddenly it screamed, and after it screamed again,
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oma kihtwam a-ati-0awit. asa wahdaw kihtwam i-tipwit mwac akwa
it only made a faint sound. Again it cried out far away, and then we couldn’t

nipihtawanan. aspin i-ati-mawihtat. ay akwéani i0a awa
hear it any more. Afterwards it just left while continuing to wail. Oh, then I

wimiscikosiw nititaw, “akwani ki-nakatikonaw.” nititdw mayida
said to this white man, “It left us.” I told him, but

i-pihtawat wista. “akwani ki-nakatikonaw,” nititdw. “mwac
he had heard it, too. “It left us,” I told him,

iyakwadiko wihkicisiwak idiniwak ikota ta-mowakwa omiscikosiw
“The natives and the white man do not taste good for me enough to eat (them),

kiki i-ayat nitikonan nitikonaw awa,” nititaw. aw akwani
either, this one was telling us(excl), all of us(incl),” I said to him.

“Well, that’s good,” itwiw 1ka 1-otihtikowa.”
Well, that’s good,” he said, “because it’s not attacking us.”

akwani, akwani a-ki-nakatikowa awa wihtikow. wihtikow mani maka
And then, then, it left us, this wihtiko. I believe it was a wihtiko.

iyako. akwani a-kipihcidawipadik 6ma a-ki-06ti idiko
Then the wind died down (stopped blowing)

a-ki-misidoti. akwani kipihcidawiw toni kipihcidawiw toni.
that had been blowing, that had been blowing so hard.

soskwac ma kikwan piko i-matwipadicik mistikwak.
And then it stopped blowing totally: all at once, nothing

akwani, akwani aspin 10a awa niwihtikominan a-tapasit
was stirring, not even the trees. And then, and then, afterwards,

ninakatikonan. akwani ida idiko piko acimowin.
this, our wihtiko just took off and left us. That’s all of this story.

The Priest and His Dog Team — (Track 4—08:44)

akwani mina 6ma nista a-ki-ihtiyan. akwani piyak pipon
Then again, there’s myself, the way I was myself. One winter I

niki-wiciwaw ayamihikimaw. akwani 6ma a-papamit... ka-pimis...
went with the priest. And we went out all over... paddled...

a-sipwihtiya isa. m6oa kikwan niki-ohci-kiskidihtin it

went away, you know. I knew nothing about where I would be going,

ka-itohtiyan. iti isa idiniwak ka-ayacik. ay! akwani ka-itwit
where the people stayed, you know. Oh! Then he said,
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akwa Highrock ka-itohtdnanaw! ta-it... ka-itohtdnanaw nfthi
“Let’s go to Highrock. We will travel over there, too,

mina niti Praying River, Granville Lake. koti
over to Prayer River and Granville Lake.

ka-itohtananaw,” nitik. ay akwani i-sipwihtiyahk. 6ta
That’s where we will go,” he said to me. Okay, then we left.

i-sipwihtiya 1-kisipayak 1-ki-isi-postamohcikiya. moda kikwan
We took off from here in the morning after harnessing the dogs.
nikiskidihtin. ay a-pimitapasowan.

I knew nothing. [I was inexperienced.] Oh, I was along for the ride.

ni(y)-ati-kotawanan. ay a-sipwitapasowa kihtwam.
We took a campfire break. Oh, and we resumed our journey.

ati-tipiskaw. ay akwani nititdw nawac itoki ta-kapisiya. “ma kikway
It was getting dark. Hey, then I told him it would be best if we set up camp. “Not...

ka-...ma kikway nikiskidihtin miskanaw,” nititdw. mayida ayihiw 6ma
I don’t know the road,” I told him.

Churchill i-ahaskawik. nantaw isisi kwahtohtiyahki patahamahki
Moreover, here on the Churchill River there are unfrozen spots in the ice.

miskanaw té-pakastawitapasonanaw i-itidihtaman. akwani, akwani isa
If we get lost or miss the road, we might drive into the water [fall through the ice],

oma ikota a-ki-kapisiya 6ma a-matawisak. a-ki-kapisiya a-
I thought. Then, then we made camp on the open shoreline. We made camp, tied up our

sakahpitastimwiya. mantwi nitiminanak nitohtamwak 1koti i-itdpicik
dogs. Evidently, our dogs were listening and looking out onto the lake, listening,

mana tawic i-ntohtahkwa 7 guess so. akwani ikosi nititdw ayamihikimaw
I guess. And then I told him, the priest, that it was just as if someone

plyakwan awinak 1-wi-otihtikowa ta-otihtikonaw nititdw atimwak 6hoko
was coming to us, approaching us, I told him. “The dogs are listening,”

nitohtamwak nititdw. “kikwan pthtamwak 6ti,” nititdw. ahpwitoki méoda
I said to him. “They are listening for something over there,” I said to him.

wahdaw 6ma 60ti akami sakahikani idiniwak a-ayacik nititdw akwani mwa
Maybe there are people not far away from here, just across the lake,” I said to

nantaw nitik. aw akwani a-kawisimowa. ay i-kisipayak i-ati-wapa.
him. Then he didn’t say anything to me. Okay, then we went to sleep. Oh,

niwaniskan, nipdnin. tapwi piko ma kikwan miciwin 10a tayipiko
morning came, dawn broke. I got up. I started a campfire. Right away |
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nisipwitisahikan 1-ki-postamohcikiyan. ikota isa piko akami
left without eating, after I had harnessed the dogs. It was just right across

ikota(w) isa ka-ayacik idiniwak.
the lake there where people were staying.

a-ki-nohta-kapisiya. tasipwa 6hokok
We had to cut short our camping trip. That’s why

nitiminanak ayadwak nitohtamwak. piko moda atimwak nipihtawawak
our dogs were listening. Only I did not hear any dogs

ta-matwitahtwihtacik akdmi. akwani ikota ka-kapisiyd mayida
making noise across the lake. Then we camped there, but

awa Elie, Elie S... ayahaw tanisi awa a-ki-itiht. Elie awa a-n...
this Elie, Elie ...[Caribou], uh, what was his name anyway? Elie, this one, and

Ann Lou... ayahaw opapawa awa iyako ana kisio... Elie ata wida
Ann Lou..., uh, this person’s father. That’s the old man. Well, anyway, he was

ki-ihtaw ana kisidiniw. akwa mina kotak ayahaw tanisi ana kotak
called Elie, that old man. And there was another one, uh, what was that other

niwanikiskisin 4(y)-isidihkasocik anikik. akwani, akwani ikota
one’s name? I forget what their names were. And then, then, we camped there.
nikapisindn. ay akwani i1-kisi-kapisiyaa ikota i-kisipayak

Oh! Then we finished camping there in the morning

i-nta... akwa a-sipwihtiya. mayida tayipiko akamihk Praying Wood,

and went on our way. But right across the lake at Prayer Wood, no,

moda Burntwood ayihiw Praying River, dy ikotl nintayi-kapisinan.
not Burntwood, uh, Prayer River, oh, that’s where we went and camped.

ay akwa i-kisipayak a-sipwitapasowa. akwa Granville Lake akwa
Oh, and then in the morning we rode away. And at Granville Lake we stayed

two nights ikoti nitayanan. 4 akwani akwa iyako 1-kisi-totama akwa
two nights. Then, I think, after we finished we

a-pl-kiwiya kawi, nipi-kéh-kapisinan pidisk ota pakitahwakani.
came home, making camp along the way until, finally, we reached Pukatawagan.

one week nitayanan Ota. akwa a-sipwihtiya akwa 6ti akwa ayihi
We stayed here for one week. Then we went away to over there, uh,

Russell Lake ikotl. akwa i0iniwak ki-ayawak mina niti ayihihk
there to Russell Lake. And people were staying over there too,

kisiwék Lynn Lake. ikoti mina idiniwak ki-ayawak.
close to Lynn Lake. People were staying there, too.
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ikot1 nititisahikanan. ikoti ida niki-wapahtin
We went over there with our dog team. I’d seen it over there.

nikiskinawhamakwak mina ikoti tnti 4(y)-itatamok miskanaw it
They showed me me where the road leads and

a-papamohtihowan. nipi-kiwanéan akwani.
where to go. We came home then.

oma ayamihikimaw wista 6ma a(y)-itahkamikisit isa 6ma
The priest, too, you know, does what he’s supposed to do, you know,

ka-ayamihat.ayamihaw isa 6ma a-pimitisahikit a-nipawécakasit.
pray. He prays, you know, standing up on the runners at the back of the sleigh.

tantahto itoki otayamihimina a-ki-paskaskocimat a-pim...
I don’t know how many of his rosary beads he broke by getting them caught in the

a-pimitisahikit 6ma. akwani moda mina katawa ki-ohci-isidihkatiw
bushes while riding this way. Then he didn’t have the right name for his lead dog.

anihi 6t... ontkanihti-atimoma.aw ohtdwakay ki-itimawa. aw akwani 6ma
Well, it was called “Ear.” Okay, whenever he called it, he would yell “genital!” [Cree

... ka-tipwit “takay!” itiw. “mo0a ikosi,” nititaw. “moda 1kosi
profanity] “That’s not how you say it,” I told him. “That’s not what it’s called.

a(y)-itiht. m6da kwayask 6ma kitisidihkataw kitim,” nititaw.
That’s not how you call your dog,” I told him.

‘ohtawakay’ isi,” nititdw. “Tkosi awa kitim 4(y)-isidihkasot, méda
“Call it ‘Ear’,” I told him. “That’s your dog’s name, not

‘atakay’.” “akwani haw, haw akwani 1kosi,” itwiw. akwani
‘penis’.” “Okay, okay,” he said. And

Oma a-pimitisahikiya, akwani niki-mawinihok.méda nida nimawinihwa[w]
whenever we were travelling with our dog teams, he would race me. .I never competed with him,

maka wida nimawinthok.dy a-maciskatapasowan nikan... sasan
but rather he was the one to challenge.Oh, whenever I slowed down first... right away

nikipihcin. “a nida,” itwiw. “nida na-nikanitisahikéan,” itwiw.
I stopped. “Okay, I will,” he said. “I will take the lead with my team,” he said.

“osam kimaciskan,” itwiw. ay akwa a-pimitapasot akwa nikipiskak
“You are too slow,” he said. Okay, now he was riding [ahead] and now he was in my way.

akwa nida. “4 nida akwa,” nititiw. akwa, akwa a-mawinihok.
“Okay, my turn,” I said to him. And then I challenged him.

nidahkitisahikan. “a poy tapwi isa kikakwi-mawinthon,” nitik. mana
I got ahead of him. “Oh boy, you are really trying to challenge me,” he said to
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Oma asa... nawac piko a-wi-nakatak ikosi nitik... mayida wida moda
me. Whatever... whenever I left him behind, that’s what he would say to me.

ki-tipwatiw 6tima wida ika katawa 1-isioihkatat.
But he couldn’t yell at his dog because he couldn’t pronounce the name properly.

4 akwani nipapamitapasonan po... 6ti mina.
Well, then we travelled all over... We even went out to Sandy Bay.

niki-itohtanan Sandy Bay ikotl niki-ntayi-kapisinan. ikoti ida
We went and camped there. Over there, I was taught

niki-kiskinawhamakawin kwayask tantl miskanaw idiko ispi...
properly where all the trails led... [and] how long it was (the distance), you

a(y)- ispi... ispihcak isa. kahkidaw niki-kiskinawhamakwak.
know. They all showed me. I knew the way over there immed[iately]...

ikotida niki-kiskioihtin sim... wipac ta-sipwihtiya 6ta ohci
We would leave early from here in order to have a break

apihtaw ta-kotawlya. akwani koti niki-ayayanan akwa a-pi-kiwiya.
half-way. Then we stayed over there and came home. Well,

ay akwani ni-poni-papamohtihonédn andik patima. akwa affer
by then we had finished travelling for the time being. And then, after Christmas,

Christmas mina a-ki-sipwiyohtihowa. ay akwani mina affer
too, we travelled out. Well, then, after Christmas, too,

Christmas “akwa!” nitik. “akwa mina ta-sipwihtananaw,” nitik.
“Let’s go!” he said to me. “We’ll go out again,” he said to me.

ta-odikiyokananaw Ot1 papami. akwani 6ma Praying River...
We’ll go out visiting over there, all over. And then this Prayer River...

ota Highrock a-kapisiya ikospi kihtwam 1-sipwihtiya akwa Praying
here at Highrock we camped overnight at the time we went out again.

River a-kapisiya. akwa ikota kakwihcihkimow Swan Lake ikota ohci Swan

Then we made camp at Prayer River. And then he asked about Swan Lake over there, Swan

Lake nima. mwac nikiskidihtin akwa fyako tanti. piyak piko onikahp
Lake out there. I don’t know where that one [lake] is now. There is only one portage,

itwiwak.. aw, “akwa ta-nomaki-wiciwitinawaw,” nitikonan ikota plyak
they said. “Okay, I will go with you a little way,” one young fellow said to me.

oskinikis. ta-ntkani-miskanahkakowa isko apihtaw akwa ta-pi-kiwit.
He would break the trail for us half-way and then return home.

akwa na-kiskinawhamakonan kihci-kotawasomakihci.
He would show us the route after we had finished our campfire break with him.

17
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akwani akwa matawisiyiko asay ikota asay
“After you come out onto the shoreline, right away

ta-wapamawawak idiniwak ikoti tiwic ministiko.
you will see people over on an island out in the lake.

ta-sakapahtiw ahpo,” nitikonan, ana kisidiniw lasar.
There may even be smoke rising,” he told us, that old man Lazarus.

aw akwani a-sipwitapasowa matadwisa. simak
Well, then we rode out to the shoreline. Right away,

niwapahtin i0a kotawan ayihi i-sdkapahtik ministiko.
I saw a campfire, uh, with smoke rising on an island.

ay ni(y)-ati-takotapasonan. ay kwayask nitasamastimwanan
Well, we rode slowly into the camp. We fed our dogs

wiyas wida i-atihkoskak piko i-aswipinamawacik
lots of meat because there was an abundance of caribou. They only

ayahawa opwamisa, acihkopwamisa. aw akwani ikota a-kapisiya
threw them hind-quarters, caribou hind-quarters. Okay, then we camped there.

iyako icik 0ma akwa idiko ta-papasinikiyan nista akwa wista. ay
1 did not know but to act fast, he and myself. Well,

akwa i-kisipayak niwaniskanan. “ay akwani,” ka-itwicik, “tipakohp
when it was morning we got up. “Okay,” they said, “there will be seven per

tahto tapanask, pdy, maka mah-astimwiwak. tipakohp i-tahtwapicikiya
sled, but boy, they had very good dogs. We travelled with seven and

atiht ayinaniw. akwa niso La... niso ayahawak oskinikisak
some of us with eight. There were two ... two young men

wisdmiwak Tyako onikahp ta-nikanipahtacik onikahpi. ma kikwan
they invited along to run ahead on the portage [to break the trail]. There was no

miskanaw. nitikonanak isko Granville Lake i-wiciwikowahkwa.

road. He (the priest) told us he would come as far as Granville Lake with us.
pOy ka... haw, “kawida pakwanta mawinihiki,” nititaw
Boy, I... okay, “Don’t compete for no reason,” I said to the priest.

ayamihikimaw. “kah-kisitisahikiwak paham,” nititiw. p6y maka
“They probably have fast dog teams,” I said to him. Boy, he competed anyway!

a-mawinihikit mwac pakitiniw ta-nakatikot. ay akwa
He didn’t let them leave him far behind. Well, then we reached the shoreline

a-siskitisahiklya niti. “otana nidanan otina, pimitisahiki
over there. “We are behind, so follow
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ta-pakatamok miskanaw,” itwiw. akwa a-matawisiya anta ayihihk
the beaten trail,” he said. And then we came out out of the woods, uh,

kisiwéak Granville Lake sakahikani wawakiciwanaw.
close to Granville Lake at a lake on a winding river.

wawakiciwan 10a ikota mayida i-kiskidihta. ay
It was a winding river, but he knew that. Well, now

a-matawisiya. poy! tanisi mina i-itihtdkwa 1-matwiwik. misiwi
we were out on the shoreline. Boy! There were lots of mixed sounds. Everywhere

i-matwiwik. misiwi atihkwak 1-wanisihkwa tawic.
shots could be heard. Many caribou got lost out on the ice.

i-nawatihkwitdpasocik 6hokok idiniwak napiwak 6hokok. mitoni
They were after the caribou, these people, these men. The caribou were brought

i-pahkisimacik atihkwa. tapwi piko niti Granville Lake
down (allowed to fall) all over the place. Just like that, over there at

a-picipinamakowahkwa kota niyanan atihkwa fyakwani
Granville Lake they brought us five caribou

ta-asamastimwiya wiyas. two nights ikota niki-ayanan.
to feed our dogs. For two nights we were there.

poy kwayask... mwac wi-asamastimwiw ana ayamihikimaw atihko-wiyas.
Boy, it was really... The priest did not want to feed the dogs caribou meat.

“mayida piko ohcitaw ta-asamastimwit, m6da
“You just have to feed them it, because we can’t

ta-ki-papamitapananaw,” nititdw. “piko ta-asamastimwiya.”
haul it around,” I said to him. “We just have to feed it to the dogs.”

i-ki-wi-ntawidihta ta-pi(h)-kiwihtatat owiyasim
He wanted to bring his meat home, what

i-asamiht. &y akwani ikoti 1-kisahkamikisiyan
he had been given to eat. Okay, we finished our business there

akwa niki-pi-kiwanan. patos akwa miskanaw nipi-apacihtanan.
and we came home. After that, we used the road.

nipi-wiciwikawinan isko Praying River 6ta. lyako i-pi-kiwiyan.
We had escorts as far as Prayer River here. At that same time we came home.

pOy ki-miowidihtam ana ayamihikimaw i-papamohtihot.
Boy, that priest really loved travelling around.

sOnas mani maka wista ki-wiciwiw akwa ayahaw pacis Bighetty
Jonas apparently accompanied him and, uh, Baptiste Bighetty,
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iyako mina a-ki-wiciwat. ni-moyi...
too, went with him. This was before...

nistam otida tkwani mana a-ki-wiciwacik. akwa nist... iskwayani
These were the ones he used to travel with at first. And so did I... I was the

nida a-ki-wiciwak a-ki-papamohtihowa. akwani a-ki-pakicit.
last one to travel around with him. Then he gave up.

“mwac kihtwam,” ki-itwiw. nawac piko ki-sakotaciw dsay wida
“No more,” he said. The cold was more or less getting to him because

i-ki-ati-kisi-ayiwit. akwani ikota 6ma a-ki-pamohtihowa
he was getting old. And during the time we travelled,

kwayask niki-midopadinan.
things went well for us.

akwani 10a fyako.
That’s it for this one.

January 16, 1999

The Roast in the Rock — (Track 5—03:52)

akwa aw... ayihiw, ayihiw... 4-wi-acimostatakwa ...ayaw
Let’s go! Okay... uh... I want to tell you about people long ago... who

kayas idiniwak 6ta mak... ka-ki-mamawintocik mana 6ta Shaving Point.
gathered here at Shaving Point [100°57' west 55°42' north]. Everybody, everybody knew

kiskidihtam, kahkidaw awinak kiskidihtam Shaving Point. akwa 6ti ohci
where Shaving Point was [in the South Channel of the Churchill River, just north of

Pel... ayihihk Sandy Bay 6tisi a-ki-ayacik 6hokok 0ddakam pikwita
Flatrock Lake]. And over there [at Pelican Narrows], uh (wherever), Sandy Bay, they

i0iniwak 6hokok kayas a-ki-ayacik ikota ki-isi-cimiwak
stayed over this way, these [people] at the shoreline. People used to live all over

wistawaw pakitahwakani ohci akwa Burntwood ohci ki-pit...
the place long ago, and they paddled from Pukatawagan, and from Burntwood, too, where

misakawak 1kota kisi-ayak. akwa mina ayihi Kississing Lake ikotl
the old folks came in by canoe. And, uh, Kississing Lake, they came in from there,

ohci mina ki-pi-misakawak kisi-ayak ikota kayas. akwa otisi
too, these old folks long ago. And over there,

ayihthk, ayihthk Praying River, Highrock akwa Granville Lake
let’s see, uh, Prayer River, Highrock and Granville Lake,

kahkidaw 1koti ki-pi-misakawak anikik idiniwak. tkota
All those people came in from there. That’s where
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ki-mamawintowak kisi-ayak 6tida. modida kidananaw ikospi
they got together, the old folks there. We were not yet

ki-ohci-pimatisindnaw ciskwa asay, maka kisi-ayak anikik ikota
living (it was before out time), but the old folks

ki-mamawapiwak.
gathered there.

akwani awa kisi-aya 6t1 ohci ayihi
Then, this elder from, uh, ...

a-ki-ohci-cimit ayihihk Kississing Lake Otisa kikiskioihtinawaw
He paddled in from, uh, Kississing Lake over there, you know, from

Cold Lake ohci. kot ohci an kisidiniw a-ki-ohci-misakat. wida
Cold Lake. Okay! That’s where that old man came in from. He

ki-pi-nipahiw moswa akwa a-ki-wihkohkit. ikota a-ki-wihkohkicik
came and killed a moose and held a feast. They all had a feast there.

kahkidaw ikota. akwa mina kahkidaw kikwadiw ki-o0astamatowak
and they knew how to share their food so that they would survive wherever they

tanisi ta-isi-pimohtthocik kapi-nipin. tanti wida a-wi-itohtihot
travelled through the whole summer. Everybody knew where to travel,

tantl wida, tanti wida, tanti... tanti ka-wi-ayacik kapi-nipin
where a person, where a person, where... where they would stay all summer.

akwa Oma a-ati-takwakindik ikota akwa mina a-ki-mémawapihitocik
And when fall arrived there, then they got together again.

tanti a-wi-piponisit awinak a-pipondik tanti ka-wi-ayat
It was in order to know where (each) one would spend the winter and

ta-kiskidihtocik. tdnisi 6ma a-ispadihikocik. asay ida ikospi
exactly where (each) one would be. It was in case something happened to them.

iyako anima ki-nokwan ta-kiskidihtonaniwik kisi-ayak tanti
It was already evident how the elders looked after one another where they were

ka-ayacik akwa fyakwanima i-ponipadik akwa a-ki-apicik
living. And after that was over, they sat down,

mamawapicik. aw ki-itwiw ana a-nikanit ka-ki-pitahotat wiyas.
gathered together. “Okay,” said that one who was the leader, this person who had
“cist,” itwiw, “awinak ka-wi-micit wiyas ta-cipatahapwiw.”
brought in the meat. “See,” he said, “whoever wants to eat the meat can roast it.”

wioa piko 1-ki-cipatahapwaniwik; modida kikway aski.
There was only roasting on a stick planted in the ground; there was no
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ta-cipataham kikwadiw a-wi-cipataha. mitoni i-pas-paskwanapiskak
cooking pot. “He can roast whatever he wants.” There was only bare rock where they

ikota a-ki-cipatahikicik. a-ki-ponahkwa. akwani ida 6hokok atiht
did the roasting. They made a fire. And then some of

kisi-ayak isa asiniya ki-awadiwak 1-sitonahkwa isa 6midiw
the elders, you know, hauled in rocks to support it,

ka-ki-cipatahkwa wiyas 1-sitwapiskahkwa adisk ika tapah...
you know, (they) to roast the meat. They held them up with rocks because if they

ta-macostipadik 6midiw otakwawaniwaw. o... ayihidiw omiciwiniwaw.
didn’t, their roast would fall into the fire. Oh... let’s see, their meat.

ay akwis... -ponahkamika akwa a-ponahkamikisicik 6hokok kisi-ayak
Then... after that was over and these elders had finished what they were doing

akwa,akwa wida ana, ana a-ki-mawinahikit isa itoki. wista ikota
and, and that one proposed a challenge, you know, probably. He accepted that

a-ki-mawinihikit mahti awinak ta-mamahtawisit. &w akwa wida
challenge, too, to determine who would be the one to have (shamanistic) power.

iskwayani a-ci... otinam manisam animidiw wiyas. ati-cipataham
Well, he was the last one; he took the meat and cut it. He just proceeded to

tayipiko ikota asini i-tawadik ikota. 4-cimacipina plyakwan in
thrust the skewered roast right into the rock in an open area there. He just

the mud ayihi asiski 1-cimatat. pas-paskwanapiskatina. “maka wida
pushed it in, as into mud, uh, he ‘erected’ it. This was a bare rock. “But if

akwani awinak ki-otahokiw 1yako okimaw,” ki-itiwak. piko itasowici
somebody wins, he will be declared leader,” they said. He would make the rules

ta-totamoht akwani adisk moda awinak ta-ki-mawinihwat ki-paskidakoci
and everybody would follow them because nobody would want to challenge him.

i-cistaskwahikidit asiniy owiyasimidiw. akwani, akwani
He won by sticking his roasting stick into the bare stone. Then

a-ki-sipwiyohtihocik akwa papami a-ki-kapisicik iyakwidiw,
they left and made camp all over the area, and this

fyakwioiw 1-pipondik. akwa 1kosi a-ki-wi-totahkwa. akwa
was during the winter. And that is just what they wanted to do.

i-takwakindik mina ki-mamawapiwak patima otida itoki i-takwaki.
And then in the fall, too, they gathered together, and later on in the fall, too,

akwani 10a fyako mwac awasimi ida 1kota nikiskidihtin piko
I think. And this one... I don’t remember anything else. I only heard this
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i-ki-pthtaman nimosdm piko 1-ki-acimostawit 6ma isi
story that my grandfather told me, you know, and that’s the way I have told it.

a(y)-isi-Acimowan akwani, akwani ida lyako.
Okay, this is all for this one.

The Women-Seekers Who Tried
to Follow the Mimikwisiwak into the Rocks — (Track 6—03:52)

aw! akwani akwa na-ka-acimon. akwa awa nimosdm wida
Okay! I will tell a story. I will tell about my grandfather who

a-wi-acimak 1-ki-natiskwiwiskit. ay akwani 6ta ka-ayacik
who was always looking for women. Well, they stayed

wici-kisidiniwa napiwa ki-wi-... ndpiwa. wici-wi...
here with a fellow elder of his, a man. He went...
wici-oskinikiwa 1-oskinikicik.

It was a fellow young man; they were young men.

akwani itoki Ota itasowiwak i-tipiskadik.
They made a plan during the night.

kimotiwak mina cimanis, piwapisko-cimanis 6ta ohci

They even stole a small canoe, a small aluminum canoe from here
i-wi-natiskwiwicik ot1 ayamihi... ayihihk sakwisiwi-sipiy ikoti
to look for women, over here at Prayer... let’s see, Mink River, over there

i-wi-natiskwiwicik ota ohci. -ati-otakosindik ay akwa
they went to look for women from here. As evening fell, they

pimaskosiwiwak, pimaskosiwiwak ikoti ntawi-pimiskwiwiwak akwa
paddled through the grass, paddled through the grass to go and sleep with the

i-ati-wapandik dmisa a-ati-wapa.
women. Then it started to dawn, you know, become morning.

i-pitapa akwa a-pi-kwikwaskwasowicik. pi-kiskisiwak
Morning was breaking and they came paddling back. They thought about

ohokok a-ki-kimoticik 6midiw cimanis ta-pi-pakitinahkwa
this canoe they had stolen. They were about to put it back so that

ta-natadapidit 6ho kisidiniwa.
the old man could go to lift the net.

ay akwani a-pi-pimaskosiwicik 6ma ota 6ma pawistik 6ma
Well, then they paddled back through the grass, through this rapid,

a-ki-iskapiskak ana 0adakamipadiw anohc ikota otdpanask train.
beside this steep cliff where today the train runs along the shoreline.
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ikota anima a-kiskapiskak tkota mimikwisiwak ayawak atdmask[ami]...
That’s the steep cliff where the mimikwisiwak are living under[ground]...down below

atami 6ho asiniy akwani ftoki dma a-pitaskosowicik ikotisi
the rock. As they were paddling through the grass (rushes), they

pi-tipinawipahamwak akwa widawaw ohoko pawistiko ohtataskowiwak.
came through a sheltered area (on the lee side) and these creatures, they came

ohci-cimiwak 6hokok omimikwisiwak pitastamiskawak.
from this rapid. They paddled from there, these mimikwisiwak (little rock people).

pitast... kakwi-casiskawiwak ikoti ta-nakahwécik isa
And ... then they were trying to beat them, to meet them on the water, you

fyakwanik. “itoki 6midiw wistawaw ikotl ayamihi... nami...
know, those ones. Maybe they happened to be pray... sturgeon... uh (wherever),
ayihihk, i-natiskwiwicik,” itiw itoki owiciwakana.

“Maybe they are looking for women, too,” he said to his friend.

ay akwani wida Ota toni 6ti... kikac i-nakahwacik
Then, just as they were about to meet them on the water,

a-waskipahahkwa. akwani 6midiw, 6midiw ka-o...
they turned away. Then this one, this one who... they

ka-waskipahahkwa. a taskapiskdw oma a-ispapiskatinadik. akwa...
turned away. Well, there was a crack in the rock of this steep cliff. And

4-00htipadik iskwahtim piyakwan iskwahtim. 1-06htipadik piko

then... it opened just like a door opens. It just opened

i-ati-wastik. ka-atimaskosowicik a(y)-itacik isa 6hokok
and there was light. They [the mimikwisiwak] paddled right inside, so they said

i-pi-takowipahahkwa. akwa 1-wi-nawahwacik akwani
about them, you know, as they paddled in. Then they pursued them (by water)

a-nakacapiskisihkwa. kwa 10a widawaw ikota
but ended up crashing into the rock. And they

mdoa ki-sdposcipahamwak anta asini. akwani
did not manage to penetrate that rock. Then they

akwa a-pi-sipwiskasowicik pi-acimowak. pdy, fyakwanik idiniwak
came paddling out and were talking about it. Boy, those were another type of

kotakak asini 1-ayacik! iyakwanik idiniwak i-itwiwak itoki
people living inside a rock! Those are people, they probably said, as they

i-pi-sipwiskasowicik.
paddled back.



Adam Castel

25

akwa a-pi-kaskiwinikipahtdwak pi-papasiwak i-ati-wapandik.

Then they portaged as fast as they could because it was

pOy akwani 1toki ota a-pi-takoskwasowicik ida ota
starting to be daylight. Boy, then,

akwa 0ma Ota ayihihk 6ma Ota a-niyasik a ka-... ka-ota...
1 suppose, when they arrived here eventually, at, wherever, this

pakitahwakani isa 6ma a-nlyak. akwa anima a-nlyak
point of land here, ... at Pukatawagan, you know, this point. And that point,

a-niyikohpak isa. 6ma a-mitawaniwik
had a thicket (was dense bush), you know. It’s where games are usually held

mana a-nipi ikota. pitaskosowiwak ay asay
in the summer, right there. They were just paddling in and already

awa kisidiniw pi-sdkamaciwiw. fyakwioiw i-wi-natadapit.
this old man came walking in from up the hill. He wanted to go and lift the net.

pOy! akwani itoki ota ka-pitaskosowicik akwa fyakwidiw
Boy! Then, I assume, they paddled and

i-pi-misakacik. akwani moda pisiskidihtamwak 6midiw mistik
just came in. And they didn’t pay any attention to this pole

i-otiskawaska... 1-otiskawaskitidik cistadapanahtik.
right in front of them, this net-pole for fishing.

poy! ikota a-sisko... akwani a-nakwasocik ap...
Boy! There they reached shore... and then they got it

pikwanamwak dmidiw ocimaniwa. akwani piko ohcitaw
(the canoe) entangled and broke it. They had to

ta-pakastawi-kwaskohticik ta-kwatapicik isa ta-pahkopicik
jump into the water; they capsized and had to wade in order to release their

ta-pahkwatinahkwa ocimanisiwa 6midiw. akwani a-natakasahotacik
canoe, you know. Then they pulled their canoe onto shore and returned it

mwihci takwahotawak 6ta 0adakam. akwa kisidiniw Ota sasay
just as the old man was about to meet them on the shore. Already, the old man,

a-pitahod... a-pi-pihtakosidit. a-kwatapipinahkwa
who was coming (by water)... could be heard. They turned the canoe over

a-sipwi-taciyompahtacik. 1-tapasicik lyakwidiw. akwa omi...
and crawled away fast. They were fleeing.

kisidiniwa, pdy! pi-tipwiw, “pdy, mayitokl mayina ayahaw soliya
Then... this old man, boy! He came yelling, “It has to be, let’s see, that Julian
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i-ki-p6sit dma nicimanis a-pikonahkwa. pdy kada ka-wapamitin
who went for a trip, by the way my canoe is broken. Boy, I’d better not see you,

sOliya kwayask ka-papasiwiditin wapamitani nicimani
Julian, or I will give you a good licking, now that I have seen my canoe

a-pikwaskocihtdyin,” itikwak kisidiniwa. kota ka... ka... ka...
that you wrecked,” the old man told them. That’s where... where...

ka-pakitinahkwa dmidiw ocimanisidiw.
where they put his canoe.

akwani ikosi piko itAcimow ida lyako kisidiniw.
And that was all the story he told, this old man.

The Young Man Who Went Around
with a Wihtiko — (Track 7—03:04)

aw! akwani piyak mina kiyapic piyak kikwan na-ka-acimon. 6ta
Okay! I will tell another story, one more story. There were

ohokok a-ntawidihtahkwa ta-acimostawakwaw. akwani 6ma Highrock
these people who wanted me to tell them a story. There’s this Highrock here,

ota ikota ki-astiw Hudson’s Bay store kayas ika ... ikota
where there used to be a Hudson’s Bay store long ago.

ki-atdwiw ana ikota napiw. akwani mayida 6ma ki-piht...
A man was in there selling things. Then, of course, many

ki-pihtamwak itoki mihcit 6hokok kisi-ayisak isa ki-pihtakwan
old people heard about, you know, it was heard,

o0ma wihtikow i-ihtat. wihtikow ki-ihtdw ki-itwiwak mana. akwani
this wihtiko that existed. There existed a wihtiko, they said, once in a while.

ikota anihi a-takosi wihtikow ki-takosin wihtikow ikota. akwani
Then that wihtiko arrived, a wihtiko arrived there.

6ho ayahawa otatawiwa ka-ki-atdwit ana ikota Highrock napiw.
Then there was this, uh, storekeeper, the one who sold things right there at

akwani oskana piko ki-miskamwak ikoti ispi a-pi-takosihkwa dhokok
Highrock, a man. When the customers came in, all they found were bones.

otatawiwak. a-pi-nikwat... a-pi-natahkwa ta-micicik kikwadiw. akwa
It was when they came and got things to eat.

piyak napiw ikota oskinikiw ki-wiciwiw wihtikowa. akwani
And one man there, a young man, went around with a wihtiko. Eventually,

i-ki-papami-wiciwat. akwani dma a-kotawit wida micisow
he travelled around with it. Then, whenever he made a fire and ate, it would
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atimapistak. mwac kanawapamik a-micisot. akwa a-sipwihticik
usually sit with its back to him. It did not look at him when he ate. They

tapwi piko mina akwani, akwani ka-wiciwat awa oskinikiw 6ho
just went wherever they wanted. Then, as the young man was travelling with this

wihtikow wici-oskinikiwa akwéni 6ma a-wi-kwéskohtatakot
wihtiko, a fellow young man wihtiko, whenever the wihtiko attacked him, he threw

pakamisimiw sakotiniw. mwa nantaw ki-totak. akwani dma
him down and defeated him. The wihtiko couldn’t do anything to him. Whenever

a-kotawicik, a-ki-itwiyan isa, i-kotawicik akwani micisow
they broke for camp, I said, you know, when they made a campfire he himself

wista awa. akwa wida atimapistawiw 6ho wiciwakana
ate, but he sat with his back to his wihtiko friend

a-micisodit. akwani 6ma Highrock ota a-ki-ayacik. akwa
when the latter ate. Then at Highrock here, that’s where they used to stay.

oti ayihi Burntwood, Burntwood mana. Kississing. ikoti mana
And here, uh, at Burntwood, Burntwood, too. Kississing is where they usually

a-ki-itohticik 6ma otayisa 6ma Cold Lake. 1koti mana a-ki-itohtit
went, right here at Cold Lake. That’s where he usually went,

awa oskinikiw. papadmohtahiw 6ho owihtikdma.
this young man. He would travel around with his wihtiko.

akwani akwa 6hokok idiniwak a-otihtacik akwani moda
Then they came upon these people and he would not let it

pakitiniw ta-wikatihtidit wida ta-nipahadit 6ho idiniwa.
be on its own because it could kill these people.

tipidimiw. adisk moda nantaw ta-ki-totdk mwac mina nantaw ki-
He controlled it. It could not do anything, and he could not do anything more to it.

totawiw awasimi. akwani ki-papami-wiciwiw ta... piyak,
And he went around with it for... for one,

plyak-askiy.

one year.

a-ki-kiskidihtaman ikosi 1-ki-isi-dcimostakawiyan 6ma
I knew it was so because

ka-isi-acimowan.
that’s the way this story was told to me.

akwani, akwani 1-ati-sikwanoik. 1-ati-stkwandik i0a awa
Then, then, spring came. Spring was coming, and it was beginning to thaw,
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a-wi-...ati-wi-tihkisot isa itoki méani méaka awa wihtikow. wida ika
you know, this wihtiko. That’s because it did not eat all summer, [I mean]

kapi-nipin i-mic... kapi-pipon i-micisot. akwa anihi owiciwakana,
eat... all winter. Then to his friend. “I am leaving you,” he said.

“akwani ki-nakatitin,”itiw. itwahamawiw moda i0a ki-ohci-ayamihiw
He pointed for him, because he did not talk to it, but maybe he indicated by pointing

paham maka ki-itwahamawiw 1-wi-sipwihtit fyakwidiw.
for him (gesturing) that he wanted to leave. He wanted to leave him.

akwani i-wi-nakatatat.akwani ki-nakatiw awa napiw owit...
Then, he left him, this man, [left] his... his friend.

owiciwakana. akwani mwac... ki-plyakow.mwac ki-ohci-kiskidihtakosin
Then, no... He was alone.

tanti a-ki-itohtit. akwa ana oskinikiw.
Nobody knew where he went. And that young man, too.

ikosi ki-itdcimikosiw ida iyako.
That’s how the story was told about him.

i-ki-pthtaman mana tkwanima i-itdcimihi-ayat...
It’s how I used to hear this story told...

i-acimostakawiyan kayas kisi-ayak. nista
I was told this story long ago by the elders. I

niki-kiyokawawak fyakwanik méana a-ki-acimostawicik.
used to go and visit them myself, and they told me stories.

akwani ida Tyako. mwac awasimi nantaw niki-itacimaw.
That’s all for that one. I don’t have anything else to add.

ikosi piko i-ki-isi-pthtaméan 6ma ka-itwiyan. That’s it.
I only heard about this, what I have been talking about. That’s it.

Aerial View of Highrock
through the smoke haze of forest fires
(August 18, 1999)
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May 8, 1999

Adam:

Beaver Fever? — (Track 8—08:12)

ayahaw tani[s] tayipiko akwa mina pilap a-ki-wiciwakiht
Let’s see, uh, Athanase and Philip [Francois], too, I went with them

akwa tis... &w... 4... awinak Oma a-ki-... 4... satli, satli
and who else? Uh, Sidney [Castel] that’s

a-ki-wiciwakiht. akwani a-ki-pimohtithowa i-nti-wanihikiya lyako.
who we went with. And we travelled, went out trapping.

akwa a-pimohtthowa 6ti, 6ti, 6t1 nipimo... pidisk nisto-kisikaw
And as we travelled there, there, there we trav... Finally, it was three days

nipimohtihonan ikoti 1-nti-wanihikiya i-stkwa. akwani ikoti ka-ayaya
that we travelled to where we went trapping in the spring. Then, we stayed over there

a-wanihikiya akwa mikwac a-wanihikiya, akwani nistanan
where we trapped and trapped meanwhile, and then we

tipan niki-itohtthonan ayahaw pilap akwa wida. iscés ...
went separately, uh, Philip and 1. Eustace ...

ayahaw ki-wiciwiw tanas, satliwa. aw akwani, akwani ikoti
uh, Athanase went with Sidney. Okay, then, then we

ka-wanihikiya oma 6ti 4-ki-itohtiya a-nti-wanihikiya.
trapped over there; that’s where we went and trapped.

akwani mwac niki-ohci-kiskidihtindn wida i-ki-mido-ayaya
And then, we did not know [about it] because we were healthy when

a-sipwihtlya nistanan tipan isa onikahpisa niki-ah-ati-onikanan.
we went our separate ways. We went over separate small places of portage.

akwani ikoti 6ma niki-pak... niki-pakastayipadin nida i-ati-...
Then, over there, I fell... I fell into the water as I was

i-ati-ayayan i-pimowatiyan cimanis. i-ati-matawisiyan
packing the small canoe. As I approached the shoreline,

a-pakastayipadiyan. akwani niki-macimahcihon akwa wista awa pilap.
I fell into the water. And then I felt sick, and Philip, too.

mwac niki-kiskidimaw 1-macamahcihot isa wista. akwani ispi
I did not know that he was feeling sick as well. Then, when

a-pi-kiwihowa akwani ika a-kaskihtaya kwayask ta-pi-pimiskaya.
we started to come home we did not have much strength to paddle.

akwani onikahpi ikota i-siskahama akwani ikota
When we reached the portage,
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a-ki-kapaya akwani a-ki-pi-mosci-kiwiya taskam.
we disembarked and just walked home, taking a shortcut.

a-... piko 1(y)asowan nista mistiko idiko i-mahkwahpiniyan
I used the trees for support as I walked along because I was in great pain,

akwa wista. piko 1-kipihciya, i-kipihciya.
and he too. We had to stop, had to stop.

pidisk kikac ati-wapan 6ma idiko i-pimohtiya ndéhcimi.
It was just about daylight when we came out because we had walked

a-matawisiya ita a-ki-ayaya. a-ki-nakatakihcik ita tanas
through the forest for so long to where we were staying.

nikapisiwinina. &y akwani tipwiw. mayida ika mina 1-ki-tipwiya kwani
That’s where we left Athanase in our camp. Oh, then he yelled. However, we couldn’t

pakwanta nista nitipwan. nikwis-kwiskosan kidikaw. &w akwéni ata wida
yell, either [at first]. And then, I yelled in vain. I even whistled. Oh, then we

a-ati-wah-waspawihakihcik moda wahdaw a-waspawihakihcik akwa
started to wake them up. It was not far where we woke them up, and

a-pi-natahokowa. tanisi akwa nitikonan wida tanas.
he came to get us. Athanase asked us what had happened.

“a(y)-ahkosiya 6ma,” nititaw. “mwa... kikac mwac

“As a matter of fact, we are sick,” I told him. “We nearly didn’t
nikaskihtidnan ta-takosina,” nititdw. “akwani ika

manage to make it here,” I said to him. “And

i-kaskihtaya nicimaninan ta-pi-kaskiwihtataya,” nititdw. “poy,
we did not manage to bring our canoe over,” I said to him. “Boy,

tdyisa mamaskac,” itfwiw]. akwani akwa kota a-... 4-ahkosiya
that is truly amazing,” he said. And then we got sick in there for

two days ikota nista a-ki-pimisinan akwa wista pilap, pilap.
two days. I lay there, and [so did] Philip, Philip too.

pidisk ki-kiskwihpiniw. mwac i-kiskidimakiht ta-nakatikowa
Finally, he became delirious. We were not aware that he had left us

ikospi i-tipiskak 1-kiskwihpinit. twenty-two i-pimowatit.
during the night while he was delirious. He packed a .22 rifle.

akwani yakwidiw 1-wi-pi-kiwit pakitahwékani isi.
He eventually wanted to come home to Pukatawagan.

pOy akwani tanas a-koskonakwa. “tands,” nititaw,
Boy, then I woke them up. “Athanase,” I said,
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“ki-nakatikonaw awa kiwiciwakaninaw,” nititdw. “asay kayasis
“our friend has left us,” I said to him. “He already left quite a while ago,”

aspin ka-sipwihtit nititdw pdy a-wipinat otakohpa piko. “tan...
I said to him. Boy! He just threw his blanket. “Whe..

tanti aspin?” itwiw. “aspin Ota isi-kospiw,” nititdw. “niwi-kiwan,”
where did he go?” he said. “He went up from here,” I said to him. “I want to go
i-itwit. nititaw.

home,” he said. [I mean] I said to him.

aw akwani akwa a-pimitisahwacik akwa satll wida nimaskwiw.
Well, then they went after him and Sidney

“kawida nimaskwi,” itiw. “ta-tapasihikonaw,” itwiw tands i0a satliwa.
carried a gun. “Don’t carry a gun,” he said to him. “He will run away from us,” he

ay akwani pdy kinwisk a-namaticik idiko a-miskawacik ikoti néhcimi.
said, Athanase to Sidney. Okay, then, boy, they took a long time before they found him

i-apidit tah-tipwatiwak mwa... mwa mina naskomikwak wida ika
over there in the forest. He was sitting there and they called him repeatedly,

i-waskamidihtamidit.
but he didn’t respond because he was not in his right mind.

akwa a-pi-kiwihtahacik. a takosin. a-ntawihiw nanato kikwadiw
And then they brought him home. Well, he came back. He was healing him,

ntawihiw. akwani siyakis i-ihtit. akwani akwa nista siyakis nitihtin,
using all kinds of things. And then his condition improved, and I was improving

moda mayida tkwadiko niki-pimohtan kwayask. 4 ... akwéni itwiw tanas,
myself, but I couldn’t walk very well. Okay... and then Athanase said, “We have to go

“akwani piko ta-kiwiya,” itwiw. akwa satli moda sakwataw ikwadiko
home,” he said. And Sidney, he wasn’t strong enough to pack the

cimanis wida piko ta-ohpinikicik akwa ta-p... pi-kiwi- misakami
canoe, because they would have had to carry it and pack it all the way home.

ta-pi-piminikicik. piyakwa piko sakahikani ta-pi-asowahahkwa
There is only one lake to cross, too, and

ikota ohci sipi misakami isko pakitahwékani 6ta. &y akwani 6ma
and from there, it’s only one river all the way here to Pukatawagan. Well, then

a-pimohtthowa noéhcimi piko i-asowan nista mistikwak 6hokok
as we travelled through the bush, I only used the trees for support as I moved

a-cimasocik iti a-itohtlyan. pdy aski-askaw nikipihcinan. akwani
along to my destination. Boy, I stopped once in a while. And
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ikoti a-kipihcilya waci pO0y moda 6ma nista kinwisk itoki nitapin
then we stopped over there on a mountain. Boy, I had not been sitting long

asay a-matwihkwamiyan. akwa wista awa Oti tipwiw i-nipat.
before I was sound asleep. And this guy, too, he was yelling in his sleep.

i-kiskwihkwasit dma a-pimohtihowa. pdy! akwa mina 1-koskopadit
He was having a nightmare while we were travelling along. Boy! When he was awake

akwa mina a-sipwiyohtthowa.
again, we resumed out journey.

a-... a&-matawisiya ikota sipiy. nipdsinan. nipimahodikawinan
Okay... we came out of the bush, right into a river there. We got on

i0a piko. nikapanan. nipimahodikonéanak ida 6hokok.
board. We were just being hauled. [Then] we got off.

ay asay, asay ati-apihta-kisikaw
We were being hauled by these guys. Well, it was, it was already becoming midday,

akwa ta-kakwi-misakaya o6ta pakitahwakani. akwani
and we had to be home here in Pukatawagan. Then

a-matawisiya sipi ida. ata wida fyako kihci-sipiy
we came out to a river, eventually. Fortunately, it was the main river.

ay akwa a-pl-pimawida... akwa wida awa satli
Well, as they were hauling... And Sidney couldn’t lift the canoe himself.

md0da sakwahtaw cimanis piko tanas i-awatawatit niciméaninana.
It was only Athanase who moved our canoes.

niso niki-apacihtanan cimanisa. &y akwani a-takosina ota
We used two canoes. Okay, then we reached

pakitahwakani-sdkahikani 6ma itamwak Ota.
[Little] Pukatawagan Lake here, as they call it.

ikota a-matawisiya.
That is where we came out from.

ay aspin wida ata wida sikahow. dy akwani a-takosina 6ta
Well, he went and combed his hair! Okay, and as we

a-pi-pimahodikawiya akwa a-pip... modida nidanan nimicisonan.
were being hauled in, we didn’t eat.

widawaw i0a micisowak. itok... i-pimot... waniska-micisowak,
They were the only ones who ate. I think... as they tra... they woke up and ate,

i-micicik isa kikwadiw i-kisitioik. &y akwani ota kép... a-misakaya
you know, ate something that was cooked. Well, they we... came into
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sap... onikahpi. 6ta nipi-misakanan. poy pilap wista ka-kapat
a portage here. We came in. Boy, Philip too, when he got off,

cihcikicipadiw. tapwi piko nista nikapan &w osadm piko nista
was swaying from side to side. I just got off, too. Well, I was so sick myself

nipimitacimon idiko 1-&hkosiyan. 1ka i-ki-pas... ika kwayask
that I was just about crawling. I couldn’t... I was really unable

oti i-ki-pimohtiyan. ta... akwéani itoki
to walk. That’s when

mina a-pimahodicik akwa. pdy akwa mina adapiyak
I think it was that they just hauled me again. Boy, then I saw some

ikota a-wapamakwa i-0adahodacik. -0adiwi... 1-0adi-cimit isa
fish nets beside the shoreline. He was along... paddling alongside

awa a-pimiskat pdy akwani a-itak, “mahti kida,” nititdw,
the shoreline. Boy, then I told him, “You watch out,” I said to him,

“mahti awa adapiy 6t1 wahdaw pimiska!” nititaw. “kawida adapiy awa.
“watch out for this net. Paddle far away!” I told him. “Don’t [run into]

0ada... 040i-cimi,” nititaw. kisiwak isa 1-0adi-cimit adapiya.

this fish net. “Beside... paddle beside the shoreline,” I told him to paddle

aw akwani moda kikwén 6ta adapiy. “poni-wistitwihta!” itwiw. moda
close to the shoreline, you know. Okay, there is no fish net here. “Stop

nantaw ita na-ki-isi-ciman. mwa niwapamaw adapiy,” itwiw. aw akwani
talking,” he said. “There is no place I can go. “I don’t see any fish net,” he said.

ay akwani akwa wida itok1 akwa wista a-pimahodat tanas.
Okay then, okay then, I assume he meant him, because Athanase was hauling him along.

kitahtawid a-apit, itwiw, a-ohcihcikwanapit, itwiw,
All of a sudden he sat up, he said, kneeling, he said,

“pOy mahti akwa na-ohpiskan, niwi-ohpiskan,” akwa a-isit, itwiw.
“Boy, I will go up into the sky, I am going to levitate, fly up,” he told me, so

“ly awas,” itwiw. “md0a ta-ki-ohpiskan dma dkawac i-kaskihtayin
he said. “Oh, go on,” he said. “You can’t go up into the sky. You can’t even
ta-pas... ta-simatapiyin,” a-itat itoki pilapwa. a akwani

get up... sit up,” he said to him, to Philip, I assume. Well, then we came to

a-siskahama asa mina kotak onikahpis. a4 akwa 18a tapwi akwa ikota
another small portage. “Okay, now you can go

ta-ki-ohpiskan. kaskiwikociskawi!” itiw. &y akwani “mwaéc,”
up into the sky. Fly over to the other side of the portage!” he said to him.
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itwiw, “mwac,” itwiw. wida pilap itoki. pdy akwani nikaskiwanan
Well, then he said “no.” Philip said it, I assume. Boy, then we went over the

ikota. fyako iskwayani. piko ohcitaw ta-misakaya pakitahwakani.
portage. That was the last one. We had to be home, eventually, at Pukatawagan.

wida ata wida akwa asay ati-otdkosin. dy akwani nipi-pimiskanan
It was obviously starting to be evening. Well, then we came paddling in here, I

itoki 6ta. nipimahodikawinan nista wida ninipan
assume. We were being hauled along. I was sleeping myself while being

a-pimahodikawiyan akwa wista. pdy kitahtawid akwa mina a-itwit
hauled in the canoe, and so was he. Boy, all of a sudden again, said Athanase,

tands a-tahkiskacikit, itwiw. i-kitohcikiwi-nikamot, itwiw.
he stamped his feet, he said. He pretended to play guitar and he sang, he said.

“mahti ponwihta kida,” itiw. “moda kid...”
“Why don’t you keep quiet,” he said to him. “You can’t...

md0da ki-... méda kiki-... ka-ki-kitahkiskacikan 6ta cimanisi 6ma
can’t... can’t... stamp your feet here inside this small canoe

a-pimahoditan,” nititaw itwiw.

while we are hauling you,” I told him, [I mean] he said.

pOy akwa a-pahpit pilap itwiw 1-koskopadit itoki 6ma.
Boy, and he said Philip laughed when he woke up, I think.

it... & akwani 4-misakaya ota pakitahwékani akwa. akwani kikac
Okay! And then we paddled into Pukatawagan here. Then, for nearly

itok1 two weeks nida niki-pimisinin, ciyi? pdy kwayask
two weeks, I think, I was lying in bed, right? Boy, I was really

niki-ahkosin. mayida ana kisidinipan wida ndhko... 6hkomisipana
sick. But that late old man, he was my... her late uncle

Pierre, cipio, ki-itaw. iyako a-ki-ntawihit. akwani
Pierre, Pierre was his name. He is the one that cured me. Then

a-ki-ati-mido-ayayan akwa wida pilap. ana kisidiniwa cikap
I started to recover, and Philip too. That old man, Jacob [cékap]

ki-itaw yakwani omosdma a-ki-ntawihikot. akwani tapiskoc
was his name. That was his grandfather who cured him. And then, simultaneously,

niki-mido-ayanan. akwani aspin ikospi ohci mwac akwa ikospi
we recovered. Ever since that time, I have not been

nitahkosin mistahi. ahkosiwin 6tida ta-totakowan aspin
sick a lot. Since I was cured, I have not contracted the disease.



Robert:

Adam:

Adam Castel 35

a-ki-ntawihikawiyan. nanato ida kikwan ahkosiwin mani maka
I catch other diseases, but they can be cured.

nitayan ta-ntawihikawiyan. moda mayida ikwatwiht.
But not the type that I had then.

cékap awinak?
Jacob who?

cé€kap Ballantyne ikosi ki-isidihkasow ciyi cékap?
Jacob Ballantyne was his name, Jacob, right?

iya ikosi ki-itdw. akwani ida iyako 6ma Ota a-ki-ayayan
Yes, that was his name. That’s all that I had for this one.

niki-ati-mamido-ayanan.
I recovered fully.

akwani i0a fyako kisipipadin nitacimowin.
That’s the end of this story.

The Man Who Said He Could Fly — (Track 9—02:05)

piyak mina kikwan na-ka-acimon. aw pilyakwa kisidiniwak
I will tell one other story. Okay, one time I gave a drink to some old

niki-minahawak. i-ki-p... plyak ana i-ki-ayat i-ki-ntawihit.
men. One of them was the one who cured me.

akwa ana piyak ikota pi-pihtokiw mikwac 6ho 4-minahimak
And the other one happened to come in while I was giving this

kisidiniwa. akwani ati-minahik akwéni 6ma a-minahik...
old man a drink. Then he started to give him a drink.

a-minihkwiya ati-takahkipiwak, ati-takahkipiwak i-minihkwicik.
They were starting to get high. By having a drink, they were beginning to get high.

pOy kitdhtawid a-ati-mawinihotocik awinak nawac
Boy, all of a sudden they started challenging each other about who

i-mamahtawisit, itwiwak. ay akwani 10a ana piyak kisidiniw

had the greater supernatural powers, so they said. Okay! Then one of the old men
“a nida 10a nimamahtawisin nipimidan,” itwiw. pikwitl a-itat,
said to the other, “All right, myself, I have supernatural powers. I can fly,”

a-wi-itohtthowan. “ni-itohtthon plyakwan anikwacas. ikosi
he said. “I can travel anywhere I want to, just like the squirrel. That is how

nitisi-pimohtihon ni(y)-asowaniskan.” ay a-ohci-kitot ida ana
I travel. I jump across from one tree to another.” Then the other one retorted,
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kotak, “mo6dida ikosi nida ni-isi-pimohtihon médida mosciwak
“I don’t travel that way. I won’t go from tree to tree

na-asowaniskan ta-maciskatawiyan,” itwiw. “nida ida na-ka-pimidan
to slow me down,” he said. “Myself, I would just fly,” he said.

tapwi piko,” itiw. m6da maka wihtamawiw tanisi
But he did not tell him how he
a-wi-isi-pimidadit.
would fly.
“ay akwani aw pOy tayisa dma
“Okay then, okay, [said the first one] Boy, are you ever starting to

ki-ati-mamaskacimon. akwa! wadawitan
be a show-off. Come on! Let’s go outside. You are starting to

pakwanta ki-ati-napihkason,” ka-itat.
act like a big man without justification,” he said to him.

aw akwani na... niwadawitisahdwak i0a nida 1ké tipioa tan...
Well, then I... I went outside with them to see that they did not use

ta-pakamahotocik mistik ohci ahpo. ay akwani ka-wadawiya. pdy!
anything to hit each other with, not even a stick. Okay, then we went outside.

a-kwaskohtotatocik. ay a-kinikwanastimiht ida awa. ki-apisisisiw
Boy! They went at each other. Well, he got swung around, this one. He was a small

mina ana sawci. a-kinikwanastimikot 6ho owici-kisinapiwa. ay!
person, this “Georgie” (“Shorty”?) [George Bighetty]. He got spun around by his fellow

toni niti wahdaw ka-pahkisi. ay a-pahpawipadihot. “pdy, tapwi
old man. Oh! He fell to earth way, far away. Oh, then he dusted himself off. “Boy,

ki-maskawisan,” ka-it... itiw. “ay akwani mwac akwa
you are really strong,” ... he said. “Well, I won’t go against

ta-madidimitin akwa,” itiw.
you,” he said to him.

4 akwa a-pihtokicik pihtokiwak 4sa.
Well, then they went inside, inside, and started drinking

mina twiwak... minihkwiwak. mwac akwa nantaw ki-itiw kisidiniw,
again. He couldn’t say anything, that old man,

wida akwani i-sakotinikot. sdwci 10a Tyako. ay akwani akwa
because the other had overpowered him. That was Georgie. Well, then

ikota a-minihkwicik.
they went and drank in there.
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akwani akwa na-ati-acimaw akwa cipi0 akwa ikota kotak akwa.

Okay, now I will tell about Pierre.

fyakwioiw 1-ki-ntawihat napiwa. akwani aw akwa itoki
At that time he cured another man. Then, well, I think, they paddled away,

ka-sipwi-cimicik akwa kisidiniw. 6t tawic Tkotl 1-ki-astat
and it was with this old man. Over out in the lake is where he made...,

a-ko... 1-ki-akohcicikit sadasta akwa ikoti 4-ntayi-minahat.
Celestine [Bighetty], made home-brew there, and he went and gave him a drink.

akwa O6ma ka-ati-takahkipidit 6ho ayahawa a-ntawihikot 6ho
And then this guy started to get high, uh, the one who was curing him, this

kisidiniwa. akwa a-itwi... ka-itikot, “ay kiwapahtin na 6ma akami
old man. And he said ... said to him, “Do you see this island across from here

minis... ministiko akwa mina ministikwapisk. na-ka-asohtan mwa
... and also the reef? I am going to go across and not

na-ka-twas... mwac na-ka-pikonin nipiy asohtiyani tayipiko
I will ... I will not break the water when I just walk across

mina kawi na-ka-pi-kiwan,” itiw. ... itiw.
and come back home,” he said. ...

itok1 awa “kada, kdda,”itiw, ida awa
T assume this one said, “Don’t, don’t,” he said to him, this one,

“moda ka-ki-kaskihtan ikosi ta-tGtaman,” itiw,
“You will not succeed, doing it like that,” he said to him,

i0a awa. “tapwi,” itiw, “na-kaskihtan. wapamin.” ap... tapwi
this one did. “I surely will,” he told him, “I will make it. Look at

piko i-tahkoskit awa kisidiniw aspin ka-odakamina
at me.” And sure enough, he just stepped out onto it, this old man. When he fell

akwani 1-pakastawipadit. patima idiko ka-pikopit iyakwidiw i-...
into the water, only the rings of the ripples were visible. After a

iyakwidiw 10a awa a-ki-wi-pimohtit nipi kisidiniw d-mamahtawisit.
while, he resurfaced. That was the person who wanted to walk on water, this old

akwani akwa ikota ka-p... ka-ayacik a-pas... pasinasow.
man who had the supernatural powers. And then they stayed there while he dried

pah-pawipadihow i-pasinasot. akwani ikota i0a fyakwanik akwani
himself. He shook the water out of his clothes while drying out. Then those
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a-ki-ati-isi-pi-kiwihocik. akwani iyakwana kisidiniw akwa 0t...
people started coming back home. And that old man

akwa awa a-ki-pah-pakastayipadit iyako sadasta akwa cipid ana
was the one that went into the water. They were Celestine and Pierre, as the

kisidiniw a-ki-itiht. iyako a-ki-mamahtawisit.
old man was named. That was the one who had supernatural powers.

Robert: sddasta awinak?

Celestine who?

Adam: Bighetty, sadasta pikiti iyako a-ki-ntawihikot akwa
Bighetty, Celestine Bighetty, the one who was cured by

awa kisidiniw cipio.
this old man Pierre.

Robert: cipid awinak?
Pierre who?

Adam: cipid Colomb. iyakwani 6ho ayahdwa 0s... kimama
Pierre Colomb. This was your mother’s

ayahawa 6hkomisa.
uncle.

aw akwani i0a fyako.
Okay, that’s it for this one.
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Pukatawagan, May 8, 1999
Interviewer: Robert Castel

The Fox Fur and Little Hank William - (Track 11—04:33)

ayihiw mana kayas isa a-ki-nikohtiya
Let’s see, long ago, you know, we used to cut

ndhcimi isa. 6ti -ki-nikohtiya ména
firewood in the bush. We used to cut the wood

akwa 1-ki-mosci-awatowatiya
over here and packed it only on our shoulders,

ayahawa mihta. akwa méana 6ma mikwac a-nikohtiya
the firewood, that is. And then, when we were cutting wood,

tadakitadak mana kayas adisk 6ta ki-pimakocinwak
the tractors used to drive by, hauling goods to

Lynn Lake i-ispadicik 1-awatasocik. akwani ikoti méana ayihiw
Lynn Lake. And then, when we were over there, uh,

ka-ki-ayaya ka-pi-matawisipahtdya mana i-nti-nakiskawakihcik
we would come running out of the woods to meet them out here

mana 6ta tawic.
on the lake.

akwa ana n6cokwisiw tandiko itoki ki-tahtwaskiwiniw
And there was that old lady. I don’t know how old she was,

ki-ndcokwisiwiw wida ana ndcokwisiw. ay akwani a-itikowa
but she was old, that old lady. Well, then she talked to us

i-piminitaskopahtat wista. i-piminitaskot.
and she was running out on the ice, too, coming out onto the ice.

Robert: mwa na kikiskidimaw a-isidihkasot?
Do you know what her name was?
Domithilde: néhémi Hunter ki-itdaw, nohémi Hunter ki-itdw. ay akwani

Noemi Hunter was her name; she was called Noemi Hunter. Well, and then

ka-pi... a-pi-ayakowa a-ati-wiciwakiht ay akwani ota
when... she came to us [so that] we could accompany her and then where they

a-ati-miskoskacik ayahawak aya tadakitadak.
started making tracks (where their tracks were), uh, those tractor tracks.
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akwani ikota ayihiw ka-ayaya ka-tihcipadihowa
Then, when we were there, we hopped aboard,

akwa wista ana nécokwisiw piko 1-ohcipitakiht
and that old lady too, only we had to pull her up

a-tthcipadihot. ay akwa a-sipwitapasowa iskoci niti ayihi,
and she jumped on. Well, and then we had a ride all the way over there to, uh,

ayihi micosinikahpisi ikota isko.
let’s see, Little Poplar Portage, which is as far as we went.

ay akwani wista i-kwaskohtit akwani anihi omahkisi-wayana
Well, then she jumped off herself. And she got the fox fur

a-ki-tapiskawat ikota a-akotaskocindit. mayida tanas i-ki-wiciwakiht.
she was wearing (as trim) snagged in there.

“mahca, tanas!” ka-itakiht kohkom ana 6ta ... ayahawa omahkisi-wayana
But we were with Athanase. “Go, Athanase!” we said to him. Your granny here...

ka-wiwipasidit a-itak akwani ka-pimitisahwat 6ho tadakitada
uh, that’s her fox fur flapping back and forth,” I said to him. Then, he ran after

ka-matwi-otinat. “haw makawa, nohkom! ayahaw nipisiwa ata wida.
this tractor and, evidently, retrieved it. “Okay, here it is, Grandmother! Anyway, I

akwani nikaskihtan. kdwida mina kthtwam o6ta kista ta-pitohtan
brought it. I managed to do it. Don’t ever come here again

pitohtaniwiki,” ka-itat 6hkoma. ay akwani akwa a-pi-kakiwiya.
when they come in,” he told his granny. And then we came home.

a-pi-ka... a-takosiniya akwa kota wikiwa mina.
We came... we got in and eventually arrived at her house. We accompanied

niki-wiciwanan mina ikoti i-ki-wiciwakiht. ay akwani ka-itikowa,
her there, too. We went with her. And then she told us, “Okay, wait!”

“haw ciskwa!” idiko mina 1-ki-sasakihat anihi iskwisisa ayahaw
She was kind, too, to those girls (she was very fond of them), uh, that old lady.
nocokwisiw. ay akwani a-itak... a-itak... a-itwit, “a ciskwa,
Okay, they, I said... She said “Okay, wait,

nodsisim. na-kitohcikan,” a-itwit. ay akwani a-kitohcikit. “ay
my grandchild. I will play music,” she said. Okay, and then she played music.

pihtaw mwac nikiskioihtin nosisim tdnima ta-kit... &y mahti kioa
“Oh, unfortunately, I don’t know, my grandchild, which one to pla... Oh, would

ndsisim a-itat tanaswa i-ntomat ay akwani ana [H]ank Will...
you please, my grandchild,” she asked him, “That Hank Will...”
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Hank Williams isa anihi records lyakwani ka-ayat iyakwioiw piyak
Those Hank Williams records, you know, that she had. Athanase took one

a-otina tanas a-kitohtat. &y akwani ikota a-kitomakandik ay
and played it. Okay, it played there and, as usual, it

kipihciw mana. ay ndsisim iyako ka-miowidihtaman Hank Williamis,”
would stop. “Oh, my grandchild, I really like this little Hank William,”

a-itat ayahaw tanaswa ka-itat. ay akwani i-kisi-papahpiyakiht
she said, uh, to Athanase, said to him. Well, then, after we laughed at her

ikota i-wici-mitawimakiht mina ana nécokwisiw. ay akwani akwa
we played with her too, that old lady. Then we

a-pi-sipwihtiya.
left to come here.

akwani mina kawi a-nti-nikohtiya akwa a-awatowatlya
And then we went back to cutting wood and hauling

nimihtiminana pilan. koti mana a-ki-ntayi-...
our firewood with Blandine [Daniels]. We used to over there...

akwa askaw mina mana koti 6ma a-ntayi-ayaya nikohtiya
and sometimes, too, over there, when we were there cutting wood,

i-ki-wiwipisowa mana kisik mina 6ma ikoti ka-nikohtiya. akwani
we would swing at the same time as we cut wood.” Okay, then,

ikosi piko na-ki-itdicimon.
That’s all the story I can tell.

Robert: tantahto-askiwiniyik ikospl mwa na kikiskisin?
Do you remember how old both of you were at the time?
Domithilde: a mwa nikiskisin 1y toni 10a kwayask niki-mah-misikitinan

Oh, I don’t recall, but we were full-grown

ikospi or about uh... eighteen itoki niki-tahtowaskiwinanan
then, maybe about uh... eighteen; I think that’s how old we were

ikospl. yeah, eighteen years old, nineteen, I don’t know what.
at the time. Yeah, eighteeen years old, nineteen. I don’t know exactly.

tandiko 1toki.

I don’t have any idea.

akwani, akwani lyako piko a-ki-wi-acimowan.
Okay, that was the story I wanted to tell.

41
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Muskrat Trapping and Potatoes — (Track 12—07:13)

ay akwani mina idiko méana nistanan pikwisi méana nistanan
Okay, then we usually did a lot of different things, too,

a-ki-isi-kakwi-pimacihowa isa. akwani nistanan mana 6ma mana
in order to make a living, you know. And then we did, too; however, we used

ka-sikwa mayida piko a-ki-wanihikiya akwa méana misiwi mana ota
only to trap whenever it was spring. And we used to walk all over the

a-ki-pimohtiya 6ma wasakam 6ma pakitahwakani isa. ka-ayaya.
Shoreline of Pukatawagan here, you know. We lived here.

mana a-nti-wanihikisiya a-wacasko-wanihikiya méana ahpo 6tisi
We used to go and trap, trap muskrat, even over there

wapah. mana a-ki-... a-ki-isi-wanihikiya mana ikoti misiwi.
at the narrows. Usually ... we usually trapped over there all over the place.

ay akwani ayahaw kimosdmpaninaw siril ki-itdw ana kisidiniw,
Well, then, uh, our late grandfather, named Cyrille, that old man;

siril Bighetty ki-itaw. ay akwani piyakwa naciwanihikananan.
Cyrille Bighetty he was called. Well, then one time we went to lift our traps.

sdpwasciyap niki-wiciwaw Genevieve isa niki-wiciwaw
“Clear Eyes” I went with, Genevieve [Caribou], you know. I went with her

akwani ayihiw ka-pi-nakiska... akwani wida asan ikoti
and then, uh, he came to meet... and he had just (already)

i-ohtohtit 6t wapa. i-kisi-naciwanihikanit. ay akwani ikoti
come from the narrows there himself. He had finished lifting his traps. Well,

i-pihcitapasowakiht ka-kipihcistakowa ikota. poy akwani akwa
uh, as we were riding in to him, he stopped beside us there. Boy, then he

a-pahpihikowa ména i-itwahokowa.
laughed at us and pointed at us.

fyakwioiw idiko i-pahpihikowa nanamayaw
The reason was that he laughed at us is

i-naciwanihikaniwakiht. misiwi itoki 4san
we were late getting our traps. I think they are
nodsisim. tayisa kikitimakisindwaw

already all over the place, my grandchild. “You are

ay itikowa misiwi Ttoki kiwacaskomiwawa
pitiable (poor trappers),” he told us. “Your muskrats
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kisiskosowak ikoti ka-wanihikiya. kiwdpaminawaw na nida asay ikoti
are probably loose already there where we trap. Do you see me? It was already five

niyanan-tipahikan ikoti dsan nida ka-ki-isitipasowan,” ka-itwit
o’clock when I rode over there myself,”

i-pahpit. aspin 1-atim... 1-atimay... I-atimayawitisahikit
he said laughing. He left with dog... he had dog... he left with his dog team,

i-ki-nistwa(h)-picikisit. Tkota nisto otima ka-ki-ayawat ikwana
with his three dogs pulling. He had his three dogs in there, that old man.

kisidinis. apisci-kisidinis ki-itdw. akwani ayihiw akwani ikota,
Little Old Man he was called. And then, uh, let’s see in there, we ... Well, then

a-pi-... Ay akwani ahci piko nin... ta-naciwanihikananan.
we still went on anyway ... to lift our traps.

ay akwani ikoti pimida... ni-ndh-naciwanihikan... ka-niya...
Oh, and then there was an airplane! We continued lifting our traps along

dadakam. “poy ka-pihcitdpasot awinak awas ahpwitoki
the shoreline of the narrows. “Boy, somebody is coming in—get away! Maybe—

kanayi-pisiskiwiw a-pihcitapasot,” nititwanan. nikasopadihonan
it’s the game warden who is coming in,” we said (to each other). We went into

mina ikota. &y akwani, akwani ikota nipi...pi-ayaw ikota
hiding right there, too. Well, then, then, in there, we...

nipi-nacitdpasostakonan. ay akwani ikota nitayanan.
he came riding towards us. Well, we stayed there.

nimatawisipadihonan. pdy akwani a-itikowa ota awa lyako
We made a dash to the shoreline. Boy, and he told us—that was the

kanayi-pisiskiwiw. “pdy akwani akwa kimoscinitinawaw
game warden—"“Boy, well, now I have caught you red-handed

O0ma a-papami-wanihikiyik 6ta. mwac ta-ki-wanihikiyik,” a-itikowa.
trapping around here. You shouldn’t be trapping,” he told us.

pakwanta lyakwidiw 1-ayitikowa. modioda i-tapwit. Jack Lundy
He was only speaking in jest. He was not serious. Jack Lundy

ki-itdw ana ayahaw kanayi-pisiskiwiw. ikospi mina iyako ka-...
was his name, that game warden. At that time, too, that one, he ...

ka-ki-ayat... ka-ki-mikwaskawakiht ikota. ay... -ayat 1-wi-...
he met... we met him in there. Well, ... he is... he wanted to...

wista 1-pi-... da-... 1-ayét isa i-papami-... 6ho
himself to come... he was there, you know, going around, this one,
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i-pisiskidimat isa idiniwa 6ho mahti ...
watching out for these people, you know, to see if ...

Robert: i-papamitisahikit?
He was going around by dog team?

Domithilde: i-papamitisahikit wista. I-papamitisahikit. &y akwani
He was going around by dog team, too, riding around with a team of
a(y)-itikowa, “haw astam posik ndtapanasko. ta-kiwitapatitinawaw
dogs. Well, and then he said to us, “Okay, come here and get into my sled. I

pOnistatahkamikisik a(y)-itikowa iyakwidiw i0a 6ma
will take you home. Stop doing this,” he said. We were only

i-kakwi-nipahihtama ta-micisowakiht ita a-ki-tipayi... idiko
trying to kill something to eat there, and he took us home... because he had

i-piwidimikowa 1ka kikwadiw ta-nipahtawakiht.
such a low opinion of us, that (he thought) we would not have killed anything.

mana kayas mana ayihiw kwani tkwani piko 6ma
Long ago, though, we used to be brought up in the

a-ki-isi-idiniwi-pamihikawiya. waposwak ahpo mana.
Native lifestyle. It was usually rabbits.

otl mina a-ki-ayaya ka-ki-ayaya ka... ayahaw
We used to stay over there, stayed there, uh,

ana kimosdmpan ayahdw Thomas Colomb a-ki-itiht isa. fyako mana o6ti
your late grandfather, uh, Thomas Colomb was his name, you know. He’s the one

a-ki-itohtahikowa 0mayisa ayihiw tanisi dma 4dakahkwayi-sipl 6ma
that used to take us over here, you know. To this one, uh, what was it, Leech

itisi ikoti 1-pipondik mana. 1koti mana ohci a-ki-pi-moscitaplya
River, over to there, when it was winter. From over there we used just to pull

i-pi-ayaya isa kohkompan i-pi-asamakiht kinosiwa akwa waposwa.
our sled, whenever we came, you know, to bring fish for your granny to eat, and

i-pi-asamakiht. fyakwani i-pakitahwaya akwa i-moscitapiya
rabbits, too. We came and fed her. We were net fishing and pulling them in a

ninistinan pah... palisina akwa nida akwa Marie kli ikoti ka-i...
sled by hand, the three of us. Pelagie [Linklater], myself and Marie Clare

ka-ayaya. ka-ki-pi-ohcitaplya mana. 1-ki-tapakwit ikoti ana
[Dumas] stayed over there. We used to pull our sled from there. He did some

kimosompan akwa i-ki-wiciwakiht. iyako adisk piko ta-micisowa
rabbit snaring over there, that late grandfather of yours, and we went with him.
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tayi... ma kikway kikway in a store i0a. ma kikway
It’s because that was the only way we would eat. ... We did not usually get

niki-ohci-otininan. akwani piko ikosi a-ki-isi-mit...
anything from a store. We got nothing [from there]. And that was the only way

a-ki-isi-asamikawiya nistanan.
we ... would be fed ourselves.

a... akwa i0iko i-ki-isi-wihtakihtik mina kayas
Well... and it was so cheap, too, long ago,

kikway ahpo pimiy fen cents piko 1-ki-itakihtik. iyako

and even the lard cost only ten cents. We could

i0a niki-kaskakahinan pimiy mana. fyakwidiw piko mina ka-... kayas
easily afford the lard at that time. That’s all that we ate regularly long ago,

mina kapi a-ki-miciya pimiy pahkwisikan. ikwani iyakwani akwa
lard and bannock. Oh, then we

a-ki-kistikiya mina lapatdkwa i-ki-miciya. toni misikistikan
planted potatoes, too, for ourselves to eat. We used to have a very large

a-ki-ayaya mana a-ki-kistiklya ayahaw kitosisipan Flora isa
[potato] field, too. We planted, uh, your late aunt Flora, you know,

a-ki-itiht. akwani fyakwani mana nidanan i-ki-nisiya i-kistikiya
as she was called. Then there were usually only the two of us who planted the

akwa mana 6ma a-poni-kistikiya a-takwaki isa 8-monahikiya. akwani
potatoes. And every time we had finished cultivating the potatoes, in the fall

a-ki-posiyad mana kdhkompan wida ména niki-wiciwanan. 6ti adisk 6ho
you know, we dug them up. Then we used to go out in a canoe with your late granny

wasa ayahawa watihkana ka-ki-... ka-ki-ayahki. ikoti mana
because we usually accompanied her. Because out in this bay, uh, there were these

a-ki-ntawi-pOsadwatdya ayahawa nantaw ayihiw twenty
caves. That’s where we usually went to take them (by boat), uh,

bags mana ikoti a-ki-ntawi-posawataya. akwa dma
20 bags; we went to transport them by water. And whenever it

ka-sikwa anta i0a mina niki-astanan kihciwak
was spring, we would put some by my house too, close-by,

o
niwaskahikana isa watihkan niki-osihtdnan. Potato Garden at a Fish Camp

you know, in a hole that we made. That’s where on the Churchill River
(1996)

ikota fyakwani, fyakwani i-astawaya.
we stored them.
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i-pi-... iyakwani a-ki-piponi-miciya mina.
And those are the ones that we ate during the winter.

kwayask 6ma méana niki-ayanan niki-atoskanan
We usually worked very hard long ago, because we used to work

kayas wioa kohkompan 1-ki-atoskawakiht mana.
for your late granny. Together, she encouraged us in the way we should

a-wici-sthkimikowa ta-ayitatoskiya. akwani maka ikosi
be working. Okay, and that’s how we used to work, just the two of us. Your auntie.

niki-itatoskdnan mana i-nanisiya piko mana. kitdsis. kikway 1-totama.
We were [always] doing something.

ikwani, tkwani 1kosisi niki-itdcimon piko.

Well, that’s all I can tell of this story.
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